
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

23 December 2020 
 
TO MEMBERS OF THE ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE  

OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the  
Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee on 

Tuesday, 5th January, 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

This will be a meeting held in line with The Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & Police & Crime Panel Meetings) England & 

Wales) Regulations 2020. 
 

This meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and streamed live via the following link: 
www.mybostonuk.com/youtube 

 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
  

Chairman: Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Judith Welbourn 
 Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford, David Brown, Anton Dani, 

Anne Dorrian, Martin Howard MSc. PCGM, Cert Ed, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale and Chelcei Trafford 

 

A G E N D A 
 

PART 1 - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



B.   MINUTES                                                                                             (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the previous meeting. 
 

C.   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 

D.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Tuesday 29th December 2020. 
 

 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 
 

1   TWIN STREAM RECYCLING COLLECTION                                    (Pages 9 - 54) 
 

 A report by the Assistant Director - Operations 

 
2   CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT UPDATE                      (Pages 55 - 66) 

 
 A report by the Climate Change and Environment Manager 

 
3   WORK PROGRAMME TO INCLUDE                                                         

QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE DATA                                             (Pages 67 - 84) 
 

 (For Members to note/discuss the Committee’s current work programme) 
 

 
 
 
 
Notes: 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Karen Rist, 
Democratic Services Officer, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Telephone Number 01205 
314226.    email:  karen.rist@boston.gov.uk  
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify as soon as possible 
giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
Alternative Versions 
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, 
Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 
314226 
 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY - ENVIRONMENT & 
PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 
 

3 November 2020 

 
Present: Councillor Judith Skinner (Chairman), Councillor Judith Welbourn (Vice-
Chairman), Councillors Tom Ashton, Peter Bedford, David Brown, Anton Dani, 
Deborah Evans, Paul Goodale, Martin Howard MSc. PCGM, Cert Ed, Neill Hastie 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Paul Skinner 
In attendance:  
Officers –  
Assistant Director - Assets and Democratic Services Officer 
 
1   APOLOGIES 

 
Prior to seeking apologies for absence, the Chairman welcomed the new vice Chairman 
of the committee, Councillor Judith Welbourn. 
 

The Chairman further welcomed the following new members onto the committee, 
Councillors Tom Ashton, David Brown, Martin Howard and Chelcie Trafford. 
 

Apologies for absence were tabled by Councillor Chelcie Trafford with no substitute 
member. 
Apologies were further tabled by the Assistant Director – Regulation (Lead Officer for 
the committee) and the I.T and Performance Manager. 
 
2   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the committee, the Chairman signed the minutes of the previous 
meeting held on 8 September 2020. 
 
3   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Councillor Paul Goodale sought clarification of his ability to vote on the second item of 
the agenda within which were two recommendations to the BTAC committee, of which 
Councillor Goodale was the Chairman. 
Councillor Goodale was advised that he would be voting in his role as a member of the 
Environment and Performance Scrutiny Committee and was therefore able to vote on 
the item. 
 
4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 

No public questions were tabled. 
 
5   WORK PROGRAMME AND QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

 

The Assistant Director – Assets presented a brief overview of the Quarter 1 performance 
reporting on behalf of the I.T and Transformation Manager. 
 
Highlighting the severe impact on a number of services due to Covid-19 and the 
subsequent lockdown period, the Assistant Director – Assets confirmed that the 
performance data had clearly been impacted, resulting in very differing outcomes 
against the same period in previous years. 

Page 1

Agenda Item B.



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 
 

 
The closure of the leisure facilities and the Guildhall, in accordance with Government 
guidance, along with the suspension of car parking charges had resulted in a significant 
loss of revenue.  Other service areas including Environmental Health and Anti-Social 
Behaviour had refocused their resources to ensure the safety of the public 
 
On a positive note both Planning Performance and Commercial Waste Collections 
remained as high performing services. 
 
The Chairman referenced the work programme and advised that the next scheduled 
meeting of the committee would be on 5 January 2021 and had a busy agenda, but the 
subsequent meeting in February had no confirmed reporting.  
 
Committee deliberation followed which included: 
 
Addressing the high performance of the planning service, members voiced their 
appreciation of the work of the Assistant Director-Planning and their team in Boston, and 
offered congratulations at the consistency of performance.  A member noted that 
following good performance on Q3/Q4 in the previous year, Q1 had reassuringly 
continued the trend putting Boston Planning service on a level with some of the best in 
the Country.  The member confirmed that having spoken with Councillors in other 
authorities across the Country he had found that many struggled to maintain a minimum 
performance level. Further acknowledgment noted the effectiveness of the recently 
adopted new Local Plan.  However, a member did question why month on month 
planning committee meetings continued to be cancelled yet there was clear construction 
activity throughout the borough. 
The Chairman of the Planning Committee confirmed he had asked the same question 
and whilst agreeing that the Local Plan had impacted significantly within the decision 
making process, he did have concerns that applications were not being challenged by 
Councillors, Parish Councils’ nor members of the public.  The Chairman of Planning 
then stated that whilst he recognised that the experienced planning committee members 
were all aware of the call-in procedure and how it worked, he did want to ensure newer 
members were also confident in the process. As such, he had tentatively raised a need 
for refresher training for any members who may wish to attend, possibly in the new year. 
 
Referencing the recycling figures a member stated it would be interesting to see how 
they developed throughout the year with Boston becoming one of the first Councils to 
change to waste and recycling.  The member requested close monitoring of the new 
service to ensure its effectiveness.  
 
A number of members voiced very strong concerns at the continual increase in Fly 
Tipping incidents across the Borough, with some attributing the ongoing rises to the 
changes in the opening hours of the Waste Recycling Centre in the Borough.  
Addressing the steep rise of incidents within certain roads within the borough which 
were subject to continual high volumes of black bags containing food and other waste 
materials, strewn across pavements and piling up in gardens, members voiced very 
serious concern that the situation was becoming a health hazard.   
   
There was reference to the recent Member Briefing held with Cllr Poll of Lincolnshire 
County Council, but some members felt that the opinion of the County Council that the 
waste recycling centre was doing well as it was under-subscribed, was incorrect.  

Page 2



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 

 

Members felt the site to be under-subscribed due to the public not choosing to use it, 
due to the reduction in opening times and the need to schedule a timed slot, which from 
residents’ feedback identified problems on arrival at a time slot and subsequent refusals 
to accept certain goods.  Further comments noted that the centre should not be closed 
mid-week; that it should be open 7 days a week to accommodate people who worked 
long days during the week and that it should revert to working as it had historically, 
accepting goods as they arrived and not specifying what product could be delivered on 
what day. 
Members asked if the Centre would remain open during the scheduled lockdown for one 
month from 5 November 2020 and the Assistant Director-Assets confirmed he would 
source the information and relay to members after the meeting. 
 
Members who did not attribute all increases in fly tipping to the restricted hours at the 
Recycling Centre, also cited concerns of continual fly tipping in certain areas of the 
town, which once cleared were subject to further tipping almost immediately.  There was 
ongoing incidents of continual tipping of items at a number of HMOs (houses in multiple 
occupancy) where the turnover of residents was constant. 
 
When such a residence changed hands the outgoing occupants left many large items of 
furniture and the incoming residents simply tipped them either down the side of the 
house or out onto the street, making them somebody else’s responsibility.  There was 
no actual evidence of the tipping taking place and members did recognise such 
evidence would be required to take action. A member asked if it was possible to inform 
Landlords of such properties of the correct procedure for new residents, in the disposal 
of any items left by their predecessors and to ensure they were aware of the penalty for 
not disposing the items in the correct manner and that it was against the law to do so.   
In response the Assistant Director – Assets advised that logistically the only address 
information the Council held was that of HMOs that were statutorily licensable.   He 
further advised members that should they ever witness such an incident then they 
should report it to himself or the Assistant Director- Regulation and they would take a 
section 9. Witness Statement and do their best to bring the perpetrators to justice.  He 
stressed that they needed an evidential link before they could take any action forward. 
 
Recognising the ever-increasing workload of the existing fly tipping team for the 
Borough, a member questioned how much longer they could continue to maintain the 
level of service they were currently providing, as incidents would clearly continue to rise 
for the near future in line with additional lockdown(s). The team went over and above in 
its endeavours to rid the Borough of the increasing incidents, on top of which the Council 
had lost the support service from HMP North Sea Camp.  Members noted real concern 
that escalating demand on the team would overwhelm them, and suggested a 
recommendation that a review of the current Fly Tipping Team in Boston Borough be 
undertaken by the Joint Chief Executive to ensure they were adequately resourced, 
taking the increasing demand on the team forward. 
 
A member requested an update report on the existing toilet provision within the town, in 
light of both Covid-19 and the permanent closure of Oldrids who had formed part of the 
community scheme providing free facilities. 
The Assistant Director – Assets confirmed the closure of the facilities had been due to 
the Council not being able to guarantee they would be Covid compliant and they had to 
comply with the HSE assessment.   
 

Page 3



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 
 

 
A request for an update report to a future meeting of the committee would be requested, 
on the provision of public conveniences, both Council owned and private owned but 
available for public use,  
 
Voicing strong concern at the increase in stealing dogs, which had risen by 65% over 
the previous 6 months, a member enquired if the subject was suitable for consideration 
by the committee. 
The Assistant Director-Assets advised that theft or attempted theft was a police matter 
and that he was aware that the Police had been actively promoting information on the 
subject and were aware of the escalating number of attempts and thefts.  He further 
confirmed he would raise the concerns with the local Inspector and revert on any follow 
through response. 
  
Concluding the deliberation of the item the Chairman stated that whilst she was aware of 
a delay in the installation of CCTV Cameras in well know fly tipping hot spots, due to 
Covid, she wondered if it would be possible to get an update on the position.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Goodale and seconded by Councillor Anton Dani 
that: 
 

The Environment and Performance Committee request that the Joint Chief 
Executive be requested to undertake an urgent review of the current staffing level 
of the Fly Tipping Team for Boston Borough to ensure that the team is adequately 
resourced to undertake the level of service required to maintain clearance of 
continually rising incidents of fly tipping across the Borough and that the 
outcomes of the review be made available to the committee.  
 
The recommendation carried unanimously. 
 
 

TO DO: 
 

1. The Assistant Director – Assets to provide members with details of the opening 
hours and procedures for the Household Waste Recycling Centre in Boston 
throughout the forthcoming lockdown period one month from 5th November 2020. 

2. The Assistant Director – Assets to relay the concerns tabled in respect of the 
increase in attempted theft / theft of dogs within the Borough, to the local Police 
Inspector. 

3. That a request be made for a future update report on the provision of public 
conveniences within Boston to include those provided by private organisations 
permitting public use.   

4. That an update be provided at the next meeting on the delay in installation of the 
CCTV cameras in well-known fly tipping spots.  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 4



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 

 

 
6. TASK AND FINISH GROUP REVIEW.   
           REGULATING AND SAFEGUARDING BOSTONS ECOMONY 
 

The Chairman presented the report, confirming it had been a very productive review 
albeit, being suspended due to Covid-19 and lockdown,  which had resulted in the initial 
scope being amended reflecting the impact of Covid.  
 
The initial public consultation had returned in excess of 150 responses and that 
response used to identify key areas of concern. The two key areas of concern from all 
the consultation identified being, Alcohol Licensing matters at the Council and public 
perception of what the Council could do under Licensing Law, and the second item 
being all round anti-social behaviour and the publics lack of faith in policing and 
enforcement within the Borough. 
 
A meeting had taken place with a number of the support services within the town who 
gave their own insight into issues arising from licensed premises and their own opinions 
on anti-social activity and the support of the Police / Council. 
 
Two further meetings followed.    
The first with the Police and the Councils’ Licencing and Land Charges Manager in 
respect of issues relating to Alcohol Licensing. This enabled the group to identify 
recommendations to try to address many of the concerns raised in respect of Licensing 
Law and the public perception of the Council’s role in granting Alcohol Licences. 
 
The second meeting was with the Police and the Councils’ Community Safety Manager.  
The group had requested a report to detail comparative Police activity for both Boston 
and Horncastle and Skegness.  The activity reported was pre-covid, during lockdown 
and post-covid and the Chairman recommended that members read the report as it 
allayed many of the concerns raised.  Following lengthy questioning of the Police and 
Community Safety Officer, the group were able to gain their opinions and insights into 
how issues could be addressed, resulting in a number of recommendations to address 
the areas of overall concern both onto Cabinet and directly onto BTAC. 

Referring the committee to the final recommendations of the group, the Chairman 
advised that they included some requiring legislative changes and the group was asking 
Cabinet to mandate the local Member of Parliament to take forward the 
recommendations requiring Government consideration and to champion them on behalf 
of the community. 

Prior to moving into committee deliberation the Chairman invited both the Portfolio 
Holder for Regulatory Services who had supported the review throughout, to address 
the committee,  and the Lead Officer for the Review to also comment on the review 
overall. 

The Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services stated he felt the review had been a 
thorough piece of work and although it had changed in scope slightly due to Covid-19, 
there was the possibility of the group re-visiting the review in the future.  Stating he felt 
that the review had highlighted quite a few issues, the Portfolio Holder acknowledged 
the various agencies / support services out at night on the streets taking care into the 
community and concluded by saying he fully supported the recommendations. 

Page 5



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 
 

The Lead Officer for the review (the Assistant Director – Assets - formerly the Head of 
Regulatory Services at the onset of the review) stated he felt the review had been 
insightful and robust with in-depth consultation and that he was reassured to see how 
the outcomes would be taken forward.  Referencing the detailed report by the 
Community Safety Manager, the Lead Officer noted how it had provided a clear 
understanding of the level of partnership working in ensuring safeguarding within Boston 
Borough. 

Committee deliberation followed which included the following: 
 
A member asked if a business subject to a fine for selling illegal goods, was allowed to 
remain open for business or not, and if so what follow up action was taken to ensure 
they no longer continued to trade in the illegal goods. The member stated he had noted 
ongoing activity at such a shop that been fined for selling illegal goods products and 
appeared to continue to trade the following day after being fined. 
The Lead Officer of the review responded, advising that it would depend on the goods 
as illegal cigarettes were subject to Trading Standards monitoring whilst illegal alcohol 
sales were the responsibility of the Police.   
It would further depend on the sanction and whether or not the fine had been charged.  
If the shop had its’ alcohol licence revoked then it could no longer trade.  If a fine had 
been charged and paid then the business could continue to trade but not sell the illegal 
goods.  When concerns were identified that ongoing trading of illegal goods was 
continuing, then monitoring of the business would take place by either Trading 
Standards or the Police and further action would be taken if a business was found to be 
in breach. 
 
Referencing the day and night time economy which had been within the initial scope of 
the review, prior to Covid-19 and lockdown, concerns were noted at the future of the 
businesses across the borough in light of the pandemic and what the Council were 
doing looking forward to help businesses. 
In response, the Lead Officer of the review advised that the Council was awaiting further 
Government guidance.  New business support models would be coming forward for all 
businesses operating across all hours and the Council had been pro-active in securing 
first round funding.   
 
Noting the recommendation to provide a platform for public questioning of the Police a 
member suggested that akin to the Parish Councils who had a standing item for police 
business at their meetings, the BTAC could possibly facilitate such an idea for the town 
area.  The Chairman of BTAC confirmed that the committee did provide a standing item 
on its agenda, for the Police, it had been the Police who had sought to provide an 
improved public forum. Such a platform would allow a dedicated meeting without the 
need for consideration of any other business on the agenda. 
 
Addressing the recommendations within the report in respect of changes to Licencing 
legislation a member noted that the need for improvements within the licensing regime 
stemmed from inadequacies within the 2003 Act when responsibility had passed from 
magisterial to local authority.  The review had addressed the failings and the member 
fully supported any lobbying for the changes in primary legislation to give local 
authorities the tools to regulate. 
 

Page 6



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 

 

Referencing the recommendation to BTAC to look at a trail period of closure of Central 
Park overnight, a member stated they hoped that the committee would be seriously 
consider it.  Long-term residents within the vicinity of the park continued to be subject to 
loud music late at night and through into the early hours, along with having to witness 
ongoing acts of anti-social behaviour including drinking alcohol.   
The Chairman of BTAC advised that whilst the committee had considered closure of the 
park gates a year previously, but the gates had remained open.  As a point of 
clarification, the Chairman further noted that whilst BTAC had no right to employ 
personnel, should the committee agree their recommendation then any final decision 
would be by Council. 
 
A further concern noted the lack of late night street lighting within the Market Place, 
around Wide Bargate and down West Street and along Bridge Street.  The areas 
surrounding the town centre did appear well lit, but with all the issues of ASB identified 
within the review, it was wrong to have no street lighting in the public areas for not only 
the safety for the public walking through, but also for the businesses therein which 
included Jewellers and Banks.  Further concern was raised in respect of any turning-off 
of the street lighting within the town centre, with members agreeing that the lights within 
the town should not be on a timed system at all and should be on throughout the night.   
The Lead Officer of the review confirmed that a colleague had reported the situation to 
the County Council who had advised they were unaware that the system was turning off 
prior to any agreed cut-off time, if indeed there was any cut-off time.  The Police had 
also reported the lights going off at random times.    
 
General concluding comments noted that the review had been a good piece of Scrutiny 
with in-depth consultation and a productive scheduling of meetings to arrive at the 
recommendations.  Members agreed that due to the seriousness of the review and the 
level of focus and consideration necessary, that it had been quite intensive at times.  
However, that was testament to the motivation of the group and its’ determination to 
carry out such an in-depth review.   
 
The Chairman of the review group thanked everyone who had taken part, stating she felt 
it had been a thorough review. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
It was moved by Councillor Anton Dani and seconded by Councillor Neill Hastie 
 
1. That the Environment and Performance Committee agree the 

recommendations 1 through to and including 13 within appendix F of the 
attached report 
 

2. That the Environment and Performance Committee agree to forward  
recommendations 12 and 13 within appendix F of the attached report to the 
Boston Town Area Committee for their consideration. 
 

3. That the Environment and Performance Committee recommend to Cabinet 
that it agree the recommendations 1 through to and including 11 within 
appendix F of the attached report and implement the recommendations as 
necessary. 
 

Page 7



Overview & Scrutiny - Environment & Performance Committee 
3 November 2020 
 

4. That the Environment and Performance Committee charge Cabinet to give a 
mandate to local Member for Parliament to take forward recommendations 
requiring Government consideration and champion the recommendations 
on behalf of Boston.  

 

The recommendation carried unanimously. 
 
To Do      An update in respect of the issues of street lighting to be provided once a 
response is received from the County Council.  
 
7   ANNUAL SCRUTINY REPORT 

 
The Chairman presented the report and noted that despite the loss of meetings due to 
lockdown, it has been a very productive year for Scrutiny across both committees.    The 
Corporate and Community had agreed the report at their recent meeting. 
 
Alongside busy committee meetings, all strands of scrutiny had been undertaken 
allowing providing members with a wide variety of involvement and input into the 
Scrutiny process. 
 
A number of Member Briefings and Inquiry Evenings had been held, all of which had 
proved very beneficial for members. 
 
A productive Member Working Group and a productive Task and Finish Group Review 
had been convened and both successfully concluded.   Scrutiny had also acted as a 
consultee, held a public meeting at the Guildhall and facilitated a Call-in.  All in all the 
Scrutiny process had a very busy year. 
 
The Assistant Director–Assets (Lead Officer for the Corporate and Community 
Committees) advised that despite it having been a challenging year with the loss of 
meetings, a significant amount of informative scrutiny had taken place, with the audit of 
scrutiny supporting the findings.  No member comment was tabled in respect of the item.  
However, a member did table their thanks not only to the officers who supported the 
Scrutiny process, but also to all members of staff working behind scenes across the 
Council who had worked so hard during the difficult times. 
   
The Chairman echoed the comments made and tabled her own gratitude to all the staff 
for the continued efforts. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Anton Dani and seconded by Councillor Judith Welbourn 
that: 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

The Environment and Performance committee recommend to full Council that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report for 2019/20 be approved for publication.  
 

The recommendation carried unanimously. 
 
 
 

The Meeting Closed at 8.15 pm 

Page 8



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5th JANUARY 2021 

SUBJECT: TWIN STREAM RECYCLING COLLECTION 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR YVONNE STEVENS 

REPORT AUTHOR: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - OPERATIONS 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
The Council’s third priority in the Corporate Strategy agreed in November 2020, is 
Environmental Awareness and Accountability. Through this priority area the Council 
resolves to work with partners to encourage the community to produce less waste 
and recycle more.  
 
There are 3,002 properties currently taking part in a trial to collect paper and card 
from the kerbside separately from the mixed recycling presented in the blue recycling 
bin.  
 
Boston Borough Council stepped forward to trial this new ‘twin stream’ recycling 
collection service which has demonstrated that the collections can achieve 
improvements in both the quality of the recycling collected and increase in materials 
captured for recycling. Positive feedback on using the service has been received from 
residents in the trial area. 
 
This project is the culmination of collaborative working with our partners in the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership, to meet the objectives of the Lincolnshire Waste 
Management Strategy, which will also meet the requirements of the forthcoming 
national legislation contained in the Environment Bill 2020, and the Council’s 
commitment to reduce its carbon footprint.  
 
This paper presents the proposal to expand this service for the separate kerbside 
collection of paper and card to the remaining properties within the Borough, and sets 
out the environmental benefits, and operational and financial impacts. It also takes 
account of the Council’s commercial customers who will also need to take part in this 
twin stream recycling collection. 
 
 

 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 1



 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. Discuss the options set out in the report and note the environmental, 

operational and financial impacts. 
 

 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. To provide feedback to the Portfolio Holder on the proposals in the report. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
Do nothing - The current method of collecting paper and card in the same bin as the 
other materials collected for recycling does not provide clean paper fibre and 
therefore impacts on the value of the product, both environmentally and financially, 
irrespective of any measures to improve the quality of the waste presented and 
reductions in contamination.  
 
The current service, which has a high percentage of contaminated recycling, will not 
enable the Council to meet the Government targets as set out in the Resources and 
Waste Strategy 2018, and the Environment Bill 2020. It will also not enable the 
Council to access anticipated funding to be made available nationally which is likely 
to be dependent on the quality of recycling produced by residents. Paper and card 
presented separately at the kerbside could be collected by an additional collection 
round, but there would be a greater cost both financially and environmentally. 
 

 
 
 
REPORT 
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 On 28 November 2018, Cabinet agreed that the draft Joint Municipal 

Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire be approved and 
adopted. The strategy sets out how the members of the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership (LWP) will work together to protect the environment 
by delivering sustainable waste management services and establish 
best value waste management practices for the benefit of Lincolnshire.  
 

1.2 The LWP's vision for this Strategy is ‘To seek the best environmental 
option to provide innovative, customer friendly waste management 
solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire’. The LWP agreed 
10 Objectives, three of which are directly relevant to this report: 

 

 Objective 1. Improve the quality and therefore commercial value of 
our recycling stream. 

Page 10



 

 Objective 5. Contribute to the UK recycling targets of 55% by 2025 

 Objective 10. To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the 
delivery of our waste management services 
 

1.3 Progression of these aims is also within the context of a constantly 
changing operating environment. In December 2018 Defra published 
the Resources and Waste Strategy setting out the future framework for 
councils for collecting and disposing of waste. This framework has 
been carried forward in the Environment Bill 2020 currently making its 
way through Parliament. Councils will be expected to collect quality 
recycling, make separate food waste collections, and it is likely in future 
that funding from the Extended Producer Responsibility scheme (which 
seeks to make producers responsible for the full net costs of managing 
their products at end of life), will be dependent on the quality of 
recycling collected. There is a need therefore from both an 
environmental and cost perspective, to ensure that the recycling 
collected in our kerbside collection is of the highest quality achievable. 
 

1.4 Currently, the quality of Lincolnshire’s recycling is poor, with around 
30% of recycling collected classed as ‘contaminated’ either being the 
wrong material, or by being contaminated by food stuffs or nappies for 
example, and unable to be recycled. Once collected and tipped at the 
Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) this material has to be manually 
separated and disposed of. The rate of contamination in Boston 
Borough Council’s recyclate in September 2020 was 32%, despite 
media campaigns clarifying which items should be placed in the blue 
recycling bin.  
 

1.5 The cost of disposing of this ‘contamination’ to the County Council is 
substantial as markets are closing for poor quality recyclate. The 
County Council’s disposal costs reflect the higher costs associated with 
either incinerating or cleaning up the material through their contract 
arrangements. 
 

1.6 The Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP) has produced a 
waste collection framework to support greater consistency in household 
recycling across the country. This has already driven consistency in 
materials collected across the Lincolnshire districts. It also sets out the 
preferred methods of kerbside collection to ensure a good quality 
recycling. Each method requires paper and card to be separated from 
other materials (particularly glass). This is to ensure that paper and 
card is collected in a clean and dry state, and that the material is not 
contaminated by other materials such as food, glass etc, and therefore 
will not risk rejection.  
 

1.7 The effect of this is twofold; some of the material collected moves from 
‘contaminated’ to ‘recyclable’, and so improves the recycling rate. 
Additionally, it moves the material from an expensive commodity to 
deal with, to one that attracts an income. The financial adjustments 
being the responsibility of the County Council. Around 40% of the total 

Page 11



 

kerbside collected waste stream within Boston Borough is paper and 
card. The waste compositional analysis undertaken for the Lincolnshire 
Waste Strategy demonstrated that around 12% of the green bin 
contained paper and card.  
 

1.8 In pursuit of its strategic aims, in July 2019 the LWP agreed to 
commence a trial to collect paper and cardboard separately from the 
rest of the mixed dry recycling. The aims of the trial included: 

 Improving the quality and volume of paper and card recycled 

 Reducing contamination, to enable the separated paper and card 
to be made into quality paper which can be recycled many times  

 Changing residents’ recycling and kerbside waste presentation 
behaviours 

 Using the opportunity to improve the quality of the mixed dry 
recycling stream (the material collected in the blue bin). 

 
1.9 Three Lincolnshire Waste Collection Authorities were included in the 

trial; Boston Borough Council, North Kesteven District Council, and 
South Holland District Council. Collection trials of both wheeled bins 
(Boston BC and North Kesteven DC) and sacks (South Holland DC) 
were undertaken to allow comparison between collection methods. The 
separate material was sent to a dedicated paper re-processor for 
recycling back into paper products. Boston Borough Council has 
included 3002 households in the trial area (around 10% of households). 

 
1.10 Data has been gathered since the beginning of the trial and shows the 

following performance for each participating authority: 
 

 Boston BC 
(3,002 households) 

North Kesteven DC 
(1,781 households) 

South Holland DC 
(2,408 households) 

 Paper & 
card 

Mixed 
recycling 

Paper & 
card 

Mixed 
recycling 

Paper & 
card 

Mixed 
recycling 

Total tonnage 
collected  
(Sep 19 – Sep 20) 

187.28 267.58 135.24 198.02 122.30 224.62 

Average weekly 
KG per household 

1.28 1.91 1.79 2.30 1.06 1.74 

Participation Rate 96% 
 

100% 95% 
 

100% 97% 
 

100% 

Rejection Rate 
(due to 
contamination) 

4% 
 

11% 
 

2% 
 

14.4% -Sep 
20 

Not 
available 
 

Not 
available 

 
1.11 The quality of paper and cardboard has been measured by the paper 

mill who advise that quality has been consistently high at an average in 
excess of 98.5% per load with moisture content at an average of 7%, 

Page 12



 

both measures being well within the quality targets set by the paper 
mill. 

 
1.12 A series of engagement activities have been undertaken to support the 

residents in the trial areas including face to face engagement, bin 
stickers, community drop in events, mailshots, email communications 
and use of social media. This has been resourced by both Boston 
Borough Council and LCC. 

 
1.13 Both this Council and NKDC have undertaken customer satisfaction 

surveys in respect of both the paper and card bins and residents' views 
on the mixed dry recycling bins. A summary of the outcomes is shown 
below:  

 

Do you fully understand what can go in the purple bin? Yes 88% 

What do you think of the size of the purple bin? 

About right 

Too big 

Too small 

78% 

11% 

11% 

What do you think of how often the purple bin is collected?  

Just right 

Too often 

Not often enough 

82% 

4% 

14% 

Would you be happy to continue with a separate collection of 
paper and card beyond the 12 months of the trial? 

Yes  94% 

Do you feel like you fully understand what can go in the blue 
recycling bin? 

Yes  

No  

56% 

44% 

Did you know that all of the residual waste is sent to the Energy 
from Waste facility? 

No  46% 

 
1.14 During October and November 2020, samples were taken from 

recycling collected in both the trial and non-trial areas, to identify the 
impact on the quality of the recycling collected in the blue bin. The 
samples showed an average contamination rate of 17%. Although 
these were small samples the initial data does indicate that the 
engagement with residents is helping them to place the correct material 
in the blue recycling bin, and so improving the quality and recyclability 
of the material. 

 
  Target materials Contamination 

Trial area sample 1 MDR 83.7% 16.3% 

Trial area sample 2 MDR 83.8% 16.33% 

Trial area sample 3 MDR 80.63% 19.37% 

Non-trial area sample 1 MDR 64.41% 35.59% 

Page 13



 

Non-trial area sample 2 MDR 68.44% 31.56% 

Non-trial area sample 3 MDR 71.8% 28.2% 

  
 
1.15 The trial therefore has been considered a success in terms of both the 

quality of the recyclate in both the blue bin and the purple bin, but also 
from a user perspective, has shown considerable support for the 
principles of recycling more. As such the LWP reached an agreement 
on 5th March 2020, that this separate paper and card collection is rolled 
out across all households in Lincolnshire.  

 
2 The proposal for a twin stream recycling collection 

 
2.1 It is proposed that the paper and card trial is extended across the 

whole of Boston Borough in April/May 2021, as set out in this report. All 
properties currently using the standard 240litre blue bin for recycling 
will be provided with an additional 240litre bin, black with a purple lid. 
This would be for separated paper and card only. Arrangements will be 
made for those properties that are unable to accommodate an 
additional bin or which use communal bins. Collection calendars and 
information on which materials should be placed in each bin will be 
given to residents through the engagement process. 
 

2.2 As separating paper and card from the current blue recycling bin will 
increase the available capacity in that bin, the collections of separated 
paper and card will alternate with that of the mixed recycling in the blue 
bin, on a fortnightly basis as shown in the table below. The green bin 
for general domestic waste will continue to be collected fortnightly. 
 

Week 1 2 3 4 

Residual (green) 
bin 

x  x  

Recycling (blue) 
bin 

 x   

Paper/card 
(purple/black) 

bin 

   x 

 
 

2.3 On 2 September 2020, the proposed introduction of separate 
collections for paper and cardboard in Lincolnshire was considered by 
the Executive Councillor for Commercial and Environmental 
Management at Lincolnshire County Council (LCC).  This resulted in a 
decision to provide funding for the resources and infrastructure to 
support the rollout of the project across Lincolnshire. LCC are funding 
the capital purchase and delivery of wheeled bins or alternative 
receptacle for every property.  
 

2.4 The tender for the supply and delivery of bins has been awarded by 
LCC; this includes the supply of alternative sized bins for those 
properties unable to accommodate a 240litre bin. The County Council 

Page 14



 

is also currently procuring a paper mill to take the paper and cardboard 
produced by residents. This tender requires the supplier to provide an 
option for properties that may require an alternative receptacle to a 
wheeled bin. The operational arrangements for alternative receptacles 
will be agreed once this information is received. 
 

2.5 LCC have also committed to an annual financial contribution of up to 
1% of wheeled bins and alternative receptacles provided at the time of 
the roll out, to support the Council in the costs of providing 
replacements for bins that are damaged, stolen etc. LCC have agreed 
for this arrangement to continue up to 31st March 2024, when there is 
the potential for proposed Extended Producer Responsibility payments 
to support any additional costs for collection as part of the full net cost 
recovery. Should this new funding not become available, the future 
funding of replacement bins etc will be reviewed by members of the 
LWP. 
 

2.6 The benefit to the Council is the contribution of the project to improving 
environmental outcomes, and to help to meet the anticipated 
requirements of the forthcoming legislation contained within the 
Environment Bill 2020 for separate recycling collections and 
consistency of service delivery. It also enables the Council to continue 
to support the outcomes sought within the Lincolnshire Municipal 
Waste Strategy. Reducing the contamination in the recycling from 30% 
to 20% could enable this council to achieve a recycling and composting 
rate of 39%. 
 

2.7 The other Lincolnshire waste collection authorities will be or are 
similarly considering this matter. The following list is therefore indicative 
only at this stage and subject to change pending local decisions that 
may be taken: 
 

Anticipated start 
date 

Waste collection authority 

April 2021 Boston 

September 2021 North Kesteven 

April 2022 West Lindsey 

September 2022 East Lindsey 

April 2023 South Kesteven 

(2023/2024) City of Lincoln / South Holland 
 
2.9 Such a phased approach has a number of advantages: 

 Focussing engagement resources to support roll out 

 Increased support for local residents and collection teams 

 Opportunities for incremental learning, reviews and subsequent 
performance improvements 

 Peer support from other authorities. 
 

 

Page 15



 

 
 
 

3.       Communication and engagement 
 
3.1 The trial includes positive action to reduce contamination through clear 

guidance issued to all trial households, engagement events within 
parishes, regular letters and emails and engagement officers following 
collection vehicles and offering one-to-one doorstep advice.  Feedback 
from the trial has shown that clear communication and a positive 
approach to engagement has been a key factor in its success, and   
that extensive education/information is required both in advance and at 
the introduction of the service. 
 

3.2 Building on the learning from the trial, a team of engagement officers 
are being recruited and will support the roll out of the new service 
across the Borough. The recruitment and employment of this team of 
officers, and ongoing marketing and engagement costs is being 
resourced by the County Council, funded from the savings to be 
achieved from reduced disposal costs. This team will also monitor the 
quality of the materials collected. 
 

3.3 Once the service is rolled out across the Borough, this team of 
engagement officers will move to North Kesteven to support the roll out 
there, and then to the remaining districts. There will however continue 
to be ongoing support provided from this engagement team to this 
Council to ensure that residents are supported. 

 
4.       TEEP Assessment 
 
4.1  Regulation 13 of the Waste (England & Wales) Regulations 2011 

(amended 2012) states that any organisation which collects waste 
paper, metal, plastic or glass must take all such measures to ensure 
separate collection of that waste, and that these measures are 
technically, environmentally and economically practicable (TEEP) and 
appropriate to meet the necessary quality standards for the relevant 
recycling sectors. If a Waste Collection Authority does not collect these 
four recycling materials separately it must apply the TEEP test. This is 
known as a TEEP assessment, and Waste Collection Authorities are 
required to complete a TEEP assessment when considering changes 
to recycling collections. 
 

4.2 A draft “TEEP” assessment has been completed which assesses the 
proposed twin stream collection and is available at Appendix B. This 
TEEP assessment concludes that the proposed twin stream recycling 
collection as set out in section 2, meets the requirement of Waste 
(England & Wales) Regulations 2011 (amended 2012) for Boston 
Borough Council. 

 
5.       Commercial waste collections 

Page 16



 

 
5.1 Both the Resources and Waste Strategy 2018, and the Environment 

Bill 2020, set out the requirement for businesses to separate their 
‘household like’ waste to enable a consistent set of recycling materials 
to be collected. The Council currently collects commercial waste from 
412 customers. These commercial waste customers therefore will be 
required to move to the same kerbside collection service as that 
provided to households, and also separate their paper and card.  
 

5.2 Commercial customers will be provided with an additional bin, and 
marketing materials to ensure that they are separating recycling and 
paper and card from general waste. In doing so, this will ensure that 
the Council’s collection service enables its commercial customers to 
meet the requirements of the Environment Bill 2020 and subsequent 
legislation. It is important that commercial customers continue to 
receive a high quality, value for money service. 
 

6.  Impact on current waste collection policy 
 
6.1 The Council’s operational procedures for the current waste service are 

available on the Council’s website. Currently the service allows for 
additional waste to be presented at the side of each bin. In November 
2018, the Council approved the Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire and in 
doing so committed to the fourth Strategic Objective ‘To explore new 
opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of using all waste in 
accordance with the waste hierarchy’.  

 
6.2 The waste hierarchy ranks waste management options according to 

what is best for the environment. It gives top priority to preventing 
waste in the first place. When waste is created it gives priority to 
preparing it for re-use, then recycling, then recovery, and last of all 
disposal. By allowing the collection of side waste, the Council is not 
encouraging residents to follow the waste hierarchy as the first step is 
to ask residents to consider reducing the amount of waste produced. 
Side waste also looks unsightly on the street scene and adds to litter 
problems.  

 
6.3 In the paper and card trial area residents are not able to place 

additional waste next to their bin. Paper mills have a minimum moisture 
content which is achieved only through all paper and card remaining as 
dry as possible. The policy also aims to promote reduction in single-use 
plastic by not allowing side waste presented in bin bags.   

 
6.4 Prohibiting side waste for recycling yet allowing side waste with the 

green bin, risks negating the positive effects of the twin stream 
collection on the Council’s recycling rate, as the residual waste 
collected will continue to be a greater quantity than the recyclate. It also 
does not support residents to recycle as much of their waste as they 
can, and risks the inclusion of commercial waste as side waste 

Page 17



 

presented in black sacks. The engagement officers will provide support 
to residents with this change. 

 
6.5 The solid purple bin currently used for paper and card collection within 

the trial areas will be changed to a Lincolnshire standard of purple lid 
with a black body.  This change enables bins to be procured at the 
lowest price, and therefore achieving best value across the county.  

 
7.        Enforcement  
 
7.1 The Council recognises the impact that non-compliance with waste 

collection can have on the immediate and broader environment, and as 
such takes enforcement action where required. The Council currently 
has a staged approach to enforcement, choosing to educate first, with 
enforcement action being a last resort. This approach was agreed by 
Cabinet in November 2018. 

 
7.2 The paper and card trial identified that enforcement is also required for 

the minority who refuse to cooperate. During the trial bins were not 
collected for those who persistently contaminated their blue recycling 
bin, and purple paper and card bin. Those householders were informed 
why this happened and what action they needed to take to ensure their 
bin is collected. It is proposed a similar approach be adopted. 

 
7.3 A revised draft enforcement policy framework has been produced in 

consultation with LWP officers and is attached at Appendix C. It aims to 
provide a consistent approach to the enforcement of the new twin 
stream collection service to ensure it is successfully introduced and 
embedded into residents’ actions across the county. 

 
 
8.       CONCLUSION 
 
8.1 The Council’s third priority in the Corporate Strategy agreed in 

November 2020, is Environmental Awareness and Accountability. 
Through this priority area the Council resolves to work with partners to 
encourage the community to produce less waste and recycle more. 
The twin stream recycling collection will contribute positively to the 
amount of waste produced by residents of the Borough which can be 
recycled. 

 
8.2 It is recommended therefore that the twin stream recycling collection 

and associated policy changes as set out in this report are adopted to 
enable the Council to provide a waste collection service which meets 
the strategies signed up to previously, namely the Lincolnshire Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy, the newly adopted Corporate 
Strategy and also the climate emergency declaration. The twin stream 
collection service will help our residents produce a high quality 
recyclate and will increase the Borough’s recycling rate. 

 

Page 18



 

 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
As the service changes do not add collection rounds, the largest costs are 
mitigated. The County Council is resourcing the additional receptacles, and 
marketing and engagement costs at the setup of the service. There may be some 
additional administration costs in supporting the service which could fall on this 
Council however this will be closely monitored as the new service progresses. 
 
It is likely that there will be additional enforcement required. It is anticipated that 
this will be provided through the Council’s current waste enforcement contract. 
 
Based on existing blue recycling bin replacement rates, it is expected that the 
Council will require an estimated 460 replacement bins in any one year. LCC has 
made a commitment to fund 1% of bins provided at roll out (300), and therefore 
there could be an additional capital cost to the Council of £2,880. 
 
Housing developments are planned within the Boston area, a growth of 310 
properties is forecast each year. These new properties will require new green, 
blue and black/purple bins once the collection service is rolled out. Current 
budgets include forecasts for the provision of blue and green bins, but there will 
also be an additional cost to provide bins to these new properties (£5,580). This 
does not include administration which will be met within the operations team.  
 
Existing budgets include some provision for new and replacement bins for 
commercial waste customers, however there will be an additional capital 
requirement for the initial bin provision costs. 
 
These financial implications are set out in the financial proforma at Appendix A. 
 

 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
Waste collection legislation 
The Council is a ‘Waste Collection Authority’ and has a statutory duty imposed by 
section 45(1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“the 1990 Act”) to provide 
a collection service for household waste. 
 
Under Section 46(4) of the 1990 Act, the Council has specific powers to stipulate: 
• the size and type of the collection receptacle(s) 
• where the receptacle(s) must be placed for the purpose of collection and 

emptying 
• the materials or items which may or may not be placed within the          
      receptacle(s) 
 
Section 46 information will be included in the marketing materials following the 
same process as successfully used in the introduction of the trial. 

Page 19



 

 
 
Wheeled bin ownership 
A Memorandum of Understanding has been drafted by LCC, which will need to be 
agreed between the Waste Collection Authorities and the County Council. This 
will pass the ownership and 10 year warranty of the new bins to the Waste 
Collection Authorities at the point of delivery to households. 
 

 
 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS 
 
In January 2020, the Council agreed a number of recommendations to enable the 
Council to contribute to the global efforts to tackle climate change. The first 
recommendation was to declare an ongoing climate and environment emergency, 
and a commitment to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.  
 
There are significant environmental benefits from the separated paper/card 
material not being processed through the Materials Recycling Facility (power 
usage and emissions) before being sent to the paper mill (transport and 
emissions). The trials have proven that separate collections of paper and 
cardboard can be introduced with no increase in carbon emissions or negative 
environmental impact as they replace one of the other alternating mixed recycling 
collections.  
 
Improving the Council’s recycling rate, and ensuring more materials are recycled 
and diverted from the residual waste stream, without increasing carbon emissions 
from the Council’s vehicle fleet in doing so, helps to meet the Council’s pledge by 
protecting natural resources and eliminating the need to increase the Council’s 
carbon footprint. 
 

 
 
 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 
 
An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed and does not identify any 
adverse impact on those with protected characteristics. 
 

 
 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  
 
None  
 

 

CONSULTATION 
 
Comments from the Environment and Performance Committee to be included 
 

Page 20



 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

Appendix A Finance proforma 

Appendix B TEEP assessment 

Appendix C Waste enforcement policy 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Document 
title 

Where the document can be viewed 
 

Waste 
Management 
Strategy for 
Lincolnshire 
 

Cabinet report, 28 November 2018. Available on the Council website: 
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1311&Ver=4 

 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership Strategy. Adopted January 2019 
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1898/joint-municipal-waste-
management-strategy-2019-pdfa 

 

Climate 
Change  

Full Council report, 20 January 2020. Available on the Council website:  
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=5144  

Environmental 
Crime 
Enforcement 

Cabinet report, 21 February 2018. Available on the Council’s website: 
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1157&Ver=4 

Paper and 
card trial 
briefing 

A presentation on the trial was given by the Head of Services. The slide 
deck for this presentation is available on request. 

Corporate 
Strategy 

The Council adopted the new Corporate Strategy/Priorities for 2020 – 
2024  
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-
2020-to-2024.pdf  

 

Resources 
and Waste 
Strategy 

HM Government. Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-
waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf 

 

 
 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Name of body Date 

Environment and Performance 
Committee 

5th January 2021 

 
  

Page 21

https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=130&MId=1311&Ver=4
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1898/joint-municipal-waste-management-strategy-2019-pdfa
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1898/joint-municipal-waste-management-strategy-2019-pdfa
https://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=5144
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/bZdBC6RppiPOKZWf6wU6V?domain=moderngov.boston.gov.uk
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Corporate-Strategy-2020-to-2024.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/765914/resources-waste-strategy-dec-2018.pdf


Appendix A 
 

FINANCE PROFORMA        
 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROFORMA FOR EXECUTIVE APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF 
RESOURCES 
(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 
 
FROM:   
 

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:   
REPORT DATE:  
 
OPTION 1 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Revenue      
Replacement 
purple bins 

2,880 2,880 2,880 2,880 2,880 

New 
developments-
purple bins 
 

 
5,580 
 
 

 
5,580 
 
 
 
 

 
5,580 
 
 
 
 

 
5,580 
 
 
 
 

 
5,580 
 
 
 
 

      
      

Total Revenue 
Cost 

8,460 8,460 8,460 8,460 8,460 

 
Funding 
required: 

  Considered by: Date: 

Total capital cost 
 

£10,000  Env & Performance 
Committee 

5-1-21 

Total revenue cost 
(over 5 years) 

£42,300   
 

 

 
Financial Services Comments 
It has been established that the cost of bin storage, deliveries and disposal of 
old bins can be met within existing budgets.  
 
The capital expenditure is for commercial waste purple bin purchases. 
 
 
Risk 
All risks have been addressed in the report attached, no additional financial risk has 
been identified. 
 
Procurement 

Page 22



Appendix A 
 

N/A 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 
N/A 
 
 

This FP is valid for 
3 months from FP 

date 

If this FP is no longer 
required please advise 

Finance 

If there are changes to the 
original report it may 

invalidate this document, it 
must be reviewed by 

Finance. 

   

 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 23

Boston Borough Council

TEEP Assessment – December 2020

Proposed change to twin‐stream collections

Based on WRAP's "Waste Regulations Route Map":

https://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Route%20Map%20Revised%20Dec%2014.pdf

Page 25



Page 2 of 23

Table of Contents

Section Page

Introduction 3

Summary of Assessment Results 4

Step 1 – Determine What Waste is Collected and How 5

Step 2 – Check How Collected Materials are Treated and Recycled 10

Step 3 – Apply the Waste Hierarchy 11

Step 4 – Decide Whether Separate Collection of the Four Materials is Required
a) Necessity Test (Section 4.4)
b) Practicability Test (Sections 4.5 to 4.8)

13
17
18

Step 5 – Obtain Sign‐off 22

Step 6 – Retain Evidence 22

Step 7 – Re‐evaluation Process 23

Page 26



Page 3 of 23

Introduction

In order to satisfy Regulation 13 of the Waste (England & Wales) Regulations 2011 (amended 2012), 
this report is Boston Borough Council’s assessment of its recycling collections.  It has been 
completed using the Waste Regulations Route Map1 (see summary below), produced by the Waste 
and Resources Action Programme (WRAP).

Although it includes an assessment of compliance with the waste hierarchy, the Route Map’s focus is 
on the separate collection of four specified materials (paper, plastic, metal and glass) where 
technically, environmentally and economically practicable ("TEEP"), a requirement under the Waste 
Regulations.  It presents a step by step process for councils to follow in order to assess their current 
collection arrangements and compliance with the Regulations.

Undertaking a review

This is not the first time BBC has undertaken such an assessment.  However, the WRAP Route Map 
(Step 7) makes clear the need for regular reviews to ensure continued compliance in the light of 
changing circumstances.

This report revisits the assessment of compliance with the Waste Regulations in the light of:

 A new local strategy – In January 2019 the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) adopted a 
new Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire, and

 A new national strategy – In December 2018 the government published their Resources and 
Waste Strategy for England.

 Possible new legal requirements – The government's Environment Bill proposes (Section 54) 
a revision to Section 45A of the Environmental Protection Act as follows.

1 WRAP Route Map – https://www.wrap.org.uk/sites/files/wrap/Route%20Map%20Revised%20Dec%2014.pdf

Page 27



Page 4 of 23

6. Recyclable household waste in two or more recyclable waste streams may be 
collected together where—

a) it is not technically or economically practicable to collect recyclable household waste 
in those recyclable waste streams separately, or

b) collecting recyclable household waste in those recyclable waste streams separately 
has no significant environmental benefit (having regard to the overall environmental 
impact of collecting it separately and of collecting it together).

Given that all of the above apply to all of the LWP partner authorities, and that those partners are 
working together to implement the shared Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire, the format of this report, 
and some of the information contained in it, is shared across the assessments for all seven Waste 
Collection Authorities (WCA).  However, each report also contains information specific to one WCA.

In order to put the above strategies into action, the LWP have undertaken trials of new kerbside 
collection schemes, and this review considers the possible implications of those trials, including 
whether they might be rolled out more widely:

 Food waste – The new national strategy proposes making these mandatory from 2023.

 Paper & card – The new Lincolnshire strategy identifies an objective "To improve the quality 
and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream".  Since the paper industry prefers 
their recycled feedstock to be collected separately from other materials, particularly glass, 
the LWP have been trialling such collections.  One of the rounds participating in this trial is in 
the BBC area so, as well as data from the overall trial, specific local information is available.

Given that food waste collections in the BBC area are likely to be several years away, they are not 
considered in this report.  Thus, the principal reason for undertaking an assessment at this point is to 
consider whether a move to separate collections of paper and card would comply with the "TEEP" 
requirements of the Waste Regulations.

Summary of Assessment Results

This assessment confirms that the proposed twin‐stream collections of recyclables (separate paper 
and card; other recyclables mixed) meet the requirements of the Waste Regulations as follows.

Have we applied the Waste Hierarchy? – Regulation 12  (See "Step 3" for details)
Yes.  Where possible materials are handled as high as possible on the hierarchy, and very little ends 
up being sent for landfill disposal.
Is separate collection (of the four specified materials) necessary to “facilitate or improve” 
recovery? – Regulation 13(4)(a)  (See "Step 4a" for details)
 Paper – May be necessary for quality.
 Glass, metals & plastics – Not necessary for quantity or quality.
Is separate collection technically, environmentally and economically practicable? – Regulation 
13(4)(b)  (See "Step 4b" for details)
 Multi‐stream (kerbside sort) – Not practicable.
 Two‐stream (separate paper & card) – Practicable.
Conclusion
Twin‐stream collections with separate paper and card by Boston Borough Council would comply with 
the Waste Regulations.

Page 28



Page 5 of 23

Step 1 – Determine What Waste is Collected and How

1.1 – List of collections

The vast majority of the waste collected by BBC comes from kerbside collections, so this assessment 
will mainly focus on those.

Table 1.1 – Kerbside collections
Service Frequency Container(s) Households served (rounded)
General (residual) wastei Fortnightly Green wheelie bin 30,000 (all residents)
Mixed dry recyclablesi Fortnightly Blue wheelie bin 27,000 (all but trial)
Garden waste Fortnightly Brown wheelie bin 12,000 (subscribers)
Trial on behalf of Lincolnshire Waste Partnership
Separate paper & card Every 4 weeks Purple wheelie bin 3,000
Mixed dry recyclablesii Every 4 weeks Blue wheelie bin 3,000
i – Kerbside rounds include some collections from other premises such as schools, nursing homes and village halls.
ii – MDR collections in trial area exclude paper & card.

Table 1.2 – Other collections

Service Frequency Container(s) Description
Bulky waste On request n/a Large household items (e.g. furniture)
Recycling bring banks Constantly 

available
Various Various including paper, glass & 

metal (cans)
Litter/street cleaning Daily Various Various
Flytipping Various Various Various
Sharps (needles, etc.) Various Various Various
Commercial Waste Various Various Approx. 900 tonnes per annum from 

currently 421 customers 

1.2 – Waste composition

In order to assess the various collections, it is important to understand the quantities arising from 
each type of collection.

Table 1.3 – Overall 2019/20 quantities (tonnes)

Collected at Kerbside Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2019/20
General (Residual) Waste 3,607 4,106 3,805 3,998 15,515
Mixed Dry Recyclables 1,554 1,423 1,410 1,462 5,849
Garden Waste 1,831 1,817 886 440 4,974
Trial – Paper & Card 0 0 43 45 89
Kerbside TOTAL 6,991 7,347 6,145 5,945 26,428
Litter/street cleaning/flytip 977
Bring banks (glass) 147
Bring banks (textiles) 115
Bring banks (other) 17
Commercial waste 896
Other 66
Overall TOTAL 28,646

Page 29



Page 6 of 23

It is also important to understand the quantity of each material within the main waste streams.  As 
indicated above the largest mixed‐material streams, both collected at kerbside, have been assessed 
as follows:

 General (Residual) Waste – In 2017 the LWP undertook an analysis to inform the emerging 
Lincolnshire strategy.

 Mixed Dry Recyclables – The Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) which processes the 
recyclables are required to test and report on the composition of their outputs.

Table 1.4 – Composition of kerbside‐collected mixed waste streams

By percentage By tonnage
General Recycling General Recycling

Paper & Card 9.2% 33.0% 1,434 1,930
Plastics 18.5% 9.5% 2,871 554
Glass 3.7% 22.2% 575 1,298
Metals 3.1% 5.6% 476 327
TOTAL (4 specified materials)* 34.5% 70.2% 5,357 4,109
Food Waste 26.7% unknown 4,137 unknown
Garden Waste 1.9% unknown 298 unknown
Other 36.9% 29.8% 5,724 1,740
TOTAL (all materials) 100.0% 100.0% 15,515 5,849

Chart 1.1 – Composition of kerbside‐collected general (residual) waste

Chart 1.2 – Composition of kerbside‐collected mixed dry recyclables

Paper and Card

Plastics

Glass

Metals

Food Waste

Garden Waste

Other

Paper and Card

Plastics

Glass

Metals

Food Waste

Garden Waste

Other

Page 30



Page 7 of 23

1.3 – Operating costs

Table 1.5 – Costs of operating collection services (2019/20)

 Staffing
Costs

Vehicle
Costs

Operationa
l
Costs

Income Total
Costs

Residual Waste 
Collections

£668,078 £266,273 £62,594 ‐£152,476 £844,469

Recycling Collections £776,504 £266,967 £92,846 ‐£586,292 £550,024

Total Kerbside Collections £1,444,582 £533,240 £155,440 ‐£738,768 1,394,494

1.4 – Contractual arrangements

Collection

Since BBC's waste collections are run as an in‐house operation, there would be no contractual issues 
arising from a change to the current collection patterns.  It should, however, be noted that there 
could be considerable practical issues if such a change were to result in:

 A change in disposal facilities and/or locations, or

 The need to undertake a route review to achieve those new collections.

Treatment/Disposal – Recycling

The contract for the processing of dry recyclables collected at kerbside is held and managed by 
Lincolnshire County Council as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), and a new contract commenced in 
July 2020.  That contract has been specifically written to allow for potential changes to how dry 
recyclable materials are collected, so there will be no issue in one or more WCAs making such a 
change.

Treatment/Disposal – Residual Waste

Lincolnshire County Council has a long‐term contract in place for the processing of residual waste at 
Hykeham Energy from Waste (EfW) facility.  Whilst changes to the collection of dry recyclables could 
impact on the tonnage and composition of the material entering that facility, it should be noted that 
two effects are likely to counteract each other:

1. Diversion of dry recyclables which are currently being lost to residual collections into dry 
recycling collections – Reducing EfW input tonnage.

2. Diversion of non‐recyclables which are currently contaminating dry recycling collections into 
residual collections – Increasing EfW input tonnage.

Page 31



Page 8 of 23

1.5 – LWP twin‐stream collection trial

In order to better assess the proposals for twin‐stream collection of recyclables, in September 2019 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) commenced a trial in which 7,158 households received 
separate collections of paper and card.  The households were located in three separate areas:

Boston Borough Council 2,969 households
North Kesteven District Council 1,781 households
South Holland District Council 2,408 households

The households in BBC trial area saw the following changes to their kerbside collections.

Previous (standard) service Trial (twin‐stream) service
Week 1 Residual waste Residual waste
Week 2 Mixed dry recyclables Mixed dry recyclables (no paper/card)
Week 3 Residual waste Residual waste
Week 4 Mixed dry recyclables Paper and card

Initial results from the trial in the BBC area have been very encouraging.  From September 2019 to 
September 2020:

 High participation rate – 96% of eligible households

 Low rejection rate – 4% of paper/card bins not collected

 187 tonnes of paper & card collected

 Reprocessor reports both quality and moisture content are well within levels acceptable for 
recycling into new paper/card products – This is much better quality than the material 
currently extracted from collections of mixed recyclables

Overall results from the three trial areas (in NKDC, Boston Borough Council and South Holland 
District Council) are (Sep 2019 to Sep 2020):

 Quantity – A little less than achieved via comingled collections
o 445 tonnes of paper & card collected in trial, equivalent to 58kg per eligible household 

per year
o Countywide average of 68kg per household per year of paper & card in collections of 

mixed recyclables

 Quality – Trial paper & card greatly improves on that recovered from comingled collections
o In excess of 96% ‐ i.e. <4% non‐target material
o Average 7% moisture content – Well below paper mill's tolerance of 10%

In addition to the outcomes reflected by these statistics there is clear visual evidence (as per the 
below photos) that the introduction of separate collections, accompanied by a communications and 
engagement campaign to encourage residents to put the right waste into the right collection, has led 
to a reduction in the levels of contamination in the mixed recycling stream.

Page 32



Page 9 of 23

Figure 1.1 – Mixed recyclables from rounds outside the paper & card trial
(Contamination clearly visible – e.g. black plastic sacks)

Figure 1.2 – Mixed recyclables from rounds within the paper & card trial
(Minimal visible non‐target recyclable material)

Page 33



Page 10 of 23

Step 2 – Check How Collected Materials are Treated and Recycled

As a Waste Collection Authority in a 2‐tier local authority area, the waste collected by Boston 
Borough Council is delivered to destinations arranged by Lincolnshire County Council as the local 
Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), sometimes via a WDA‐provided Waste Transfer Station (WTS).

Table 2.1 – Destination and fate of each waste stream

Waste Stream WTS or direct to 
Destination

Destination Material Fate

General (Residual) 
Waste

Boston WTS Hykeham Energy from 
Waste

Recovery
(energy generation)

Mixed Dry 
Recyclables

Boston WTS Caythorpe Materials 
Recycling Facility

Recycling
(see below)

Garden Waste Direct delivery Crowland Recycling
(composting)

Trial – Paper & Card Boston WTS King's Lynn Recycling

The MRF at Caythorpe is a sorting facility from where the output streams go to a number of different 
destinations for final processing.

Table 2.2 – Destination and fate of MRF output stream

Waste Stream Percentage of this 
stream to this 
destination

Final Destination Material Fate

60% UK
27% Other: EU

Paper

13% Other: non‐EU

Recycling

79% Other: non‐EUCardboard
21% UK

Recycling

Steel Cans 100% UK Recycling
85% Other: EUAluminium Cans
15% UK

Recycling

Other Metals 100% UK Recycling
74% UKPlastic Bottles
26% Other: EU

Recycling

85% UK
10% Other: EU

Other Plastics

4% Other: non‐EU

Recycling

Glass 100% UK Recycling
53% Other: EUNon‐recyclables
47% UK

Recovery
(Energy from Waste)

Bulky waste, which is collected from households separately, is also recycled where it can be.

Page 34



Page 11 of 23

Step 3 – Apply the Waste Hierarchy

3.1 – Background

Regulation 12 of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012 asserts the need for us to 
consider the Waste Hierarchy in choosing how to handle all our waste streams.  This hierarchy sets 
out, in order of preference, five waste management options as shown below.

Figure 3.1 – The Waste Hierarchy

The Waste Hierarchy helps to encourage a change in thinking so that waste is considered as a 
resource to be made use of, with disposal being the last resort.

The following table sets out how the various materials collected by BBC, or at HWRCs in our area, are 
treated with regard to the hierarchy.

Table 3.1 – Destination and fate of materials

The "four materials" (as specified in Waste Regulations)
Material
(as per WRAP Route Map)

Preferred route Waste Hierarchy result

Glass Kerbside – Mixed recyclables Recycling
Metal Kerbside – Mixed recyclables Recycling
Paper Kerbside – Mixed recyclables

(Trial – Separate collections)
Recycling

Plastics Kerbside – Mixed recyclables Recycling
Other materials
Material
(as per WRAP Route Map)

Preferred route Waste Hierarchy result

Waste oil HWRC Recycling
Food waste Kerbside – General waste

(Separate collections from 2023)
Recovery (EfW)
(Recycling from 2023)

Garden waste Kerbside/HWRC – Separate collections Recycling
Card Kerbside – Mixed recyclables

(Trial – Separate collections)
Recycling

Fines Kerbside – General waste Recycling (EfW bottom 
ash to aggregates)

Furniture Bulky collections/HWRC Reuse/recycling
Hazardous HWRC Disposal

Page 35



Page 12 of 23

Mattresses Bulky collections/HWRC Disposal
Miscellaneous combustible
(e.g. nappies)

Kerbside – General waste Recovery (EfW)

Miscellaneous non‐
combustible
(e.g. crockery; bricks)

Kerbside – General waste
HWRC – Non‐household DIY waste

Recycling (EfW bottom 
ash to aggregates)

Sanitary Kerbside – General waste Recovery (EfW)
Soil HWRC Recycling
Textiles HWRC Reuse/recycling
WEEE HWRC Recycling
Wood HWRC Recycling

3.2 – Actions taken

As part of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) we have adopted a Waste Strategy for 
Lincolnshire which identifies an objective "To explore new opportunities of promoting waste 
minimisation and of using all waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy".  Other 
strategic objectives will also drive material further up the hierarchy – e.g. "To improve the quality 
and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream".

These objectives are reflected in a number of actions which the LWP are undertaking to move 
materials further up the hierarchy.Table 3.2 – Actions relating to each level of the Waste Hierarchy

Prevention In line with the LWP's strategic objective, a team are working on an 
ongoing programme of joint communications which include messages 
about waste minimisation.

Preparation for re‐use The HWRCs include an element of reuse of suitable items including 
textiles, furniture and bric‐a‐brac. Bring sites also provide a collection 
point for textiles for reuse.

Recycling We provide convenient collections for the recycling of a wide range of 
materials.  We are working to further improve recycling opportunities by:

 Agreeing a simplified LWP‐wide recycling mix, consistent with 
national government guidelines

 Improved joint communication of recycling messages, 
 Consistent website development, and
 Working towards separate collections of specific materials for 

new/improved recycling.
The combined aim of these initiatives is to help our residents to help our 
residents to understand what we want them to do, and thus to:

 Capture recyclables which are currently being lost to residual 
waste collections, and

 Divert non‐recyclables which are currently contaminating our 
collections of recyclables.

Other recovery 
(including energy 
recovery)

The vast majority of materials which are not recycled are sent for energy 
recovery at Hykeham EfW.  Those which are not are generally not suitable 
for that facility – e.g. hazardous chemicals, mattresses

Disposal This, in the shape of landfill, remains our option of last resort.  In 2019/20 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership only landfilled around 4% of the total 
household waste collected.

Page 36



Page 13 of 23

Step 4 – Decide Whether Separate Collection of the Four Materials is 
Required

4.1  – Introduction

Necessity Test and Practicability Test

The Waste Regulations state in Section 13 that:

(3) Subject to paragraph (4), every waste collection authority must, when making 
arrangements for the collection of waste paper, metal, plastic or glass, ensure that those 
arrangements are by way of separate collection.

(4) The duties in this regulation apply where separate collection— 

a) is necessary to ensure that waste undergoes recovery operations in accordance 
with Articles 4 and 13 of the Waste Framework Directive and to facilitate or 
improve recovery; and

b) is technically, environmentally and economically practicable.

In line with these requirements, WRAP's Route Map describes two tests to be undertaken in 
assessing whether separate collections are indeed required:

 The Necessity Test – Whether separate collection is necessary to “facilitate or improve” 
recovery; and

 The Practicability Test – Separate collection is required only if it “is technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable”.

This report sets out an assessment of BBC's current and proposed collections in the light of these 
two tests.

WRAP Consistency Framework

In deciding which collection systems to assess, we have referred to WRAP's paper "A framework for 
greater consistency in household recycling in England" (https://www.wrap.org.uk/collections‐and‐
reprocessing/consistency).  This sets out three preferred overall models:

 Multi‐stream with separate food

 Two‐stream (fibres separate) with separate food

 Co‐mingled with separate food

Page 37



Page 14 of 23

Figure 4.1 – WRAP's list of suggested collection schemes

In line with this our assessment focuses on those three recommended systems.

In addition to all the above considerations which apply across the LWP it is important to note that, as 
a participant in the LWP trial for the new twin‐stream collections, BBC is in a strong position to 
assess the potential impacts of introducing such collections across the district.

4.3 – Benchmarking data

Letsrecycle.com league tables

Whilst an individual "necessity" and "practicability" assessment will be carried out for each of the 
four specified materials, it is interesting first to consider the necessity of separate collections by the 
impact they might have on recycling performance.

In 2018/19, the best performing local authorities in England, by overall recycling rate, were as 
follows (see https://www.letsrecycle.com/councils/league‐tables/).

Page 38



Page 15 of 23

Table 4.1 – Top five recycling authorities in England 2018/19 (plus BBC for comparison)

Council Recycling Rate 
(dryii only)

Dry Recycling Food & garden waste

East Riding of 
Yorkshire Council 
(Unitary)i

64.8%
(32.6%)

Co‐mingled: including glass, 
metal, paper and plastic

 Mixed garden and food 
waste

South Oxfordshire 
DC

63.3%
(27.9%)

Co‐mingled: including glass, 
metal, paper and plastic

 Separate garden waste
 Separate food waste

Three Rivers DC 63.0%
(30.5%)

Co‐mingled: including glass, 
metal, paper and plastic

 Separate garden waste
 Separate food waste

Vale of White 
Horse DC

62.5%
(29.4%)

Co‐mingled: including glass, 
metal, paper and plastic

 Separate garden waste
 Separate food waste

St Albans City and 
DC

62.1%
(27.8%)

Two Stream:
 Co‐mingled: including 

glass, metal and plastic
 Separate paper and card

 Separate garden waste
 Separate food waste

Boston BC 33.5%
(16.4%)

Co‐mingled: including glass, 
metal, paper and plastic

 Separate garden waste
 No separate food

i – Unitary Authority recycling rates include recycling from HWRCs which BBC's do not as Lincolnshire 
County Council operates the HWRCs in our area.

ii – Headline recycling rate includes composting of garden waste and food waste.  Since these are not 
directly relevant to this report, the figure in brackets (taken from LG Inform – see 
https://lginform.local.gov.uk/) is for "dry" recycling (former BVPI 82a) and excludes those.

It is clear from this list that it is perfectly possible to achieve high recycling rates, both overall and for 
dry recycling, with co‐mingled collections.  Thus, separate collections are not necessary for achieving 
high quantities of recycling.  Although there is clearly room for improvement in BBC's dry recycling 
rate, the main differences between our overall collection scheme and those described for the best‐
performing councils are that those authorities have food waste collections and (in the case of East 
Riding) free garden waste collections, and both of those seem likely to be introduced everywhere as 
a result of emerging national policy.

WRAP data

WRAP provide benchmarking data (see https://laportal.wrap.org.uk/Login.aspx) to enable 
comparison with other local authorities, particularly those with similar characteristics.  The following 
tables will be referred to later for each material, but they also provide insight into overall 
performance.

Page 39



Page 16 of 23

Table 4.2 – Benchmarking of BBC performance with various cohorts (2018/19)
NB – This data includes all authorities, not just those with comingled collections

It is clear that, in all the cohorts assessed above, BBC places in the top 25% for the total quantity 
collected of the five "widely recycled" materials.  We are also above average for most of those 
individual materials.

Table 4.3 – Benchmarking of BBC performance with statistical near neighbours (2018/19)

Page 40



Page 17 of 23

Likewise (see above, Table 4.3), BBC compares well with statistically‐similar authorities.  Indeed, it 
should be noted that we achieve the highest yield not only overall but also for each of the five 
individual 'Widely Recycled' materials.  Furthermore, all four similar authorities also provide 
comingled recycling collections (see below).

Table 4.4 – Recycling method for near neighbours (2018/19)

Local Authority Collection method for dry recyclables
Boston Borough Council Co‐mingled: including glass, metal, paper and plastic
South Holland District Council Co‐mingled: including glass, metal, paper and plastic
Kings Lynn and West Norfolk 
Borough Council

 Co‐mingled: including glass, metal, paper and plastic
 (Two‐stream to a tiny minority of households)

West Lindsey District Council Co‐mingled: including glass, metal, paper and plastic
Breckland District Council Co‐mingled: including glass, metal, paper and plastic

4.4 – Necessity Test

Paper

Quantity
(Tables 4.2 & 4.3)

BBC's collections achieve an above‐average yield of paper nationally and 
compared to other similar authorities.

Quality Discussions with the paper industry have revealed that, whilst paper from 
comingled collections can be recycled, their preference is for paper which has 
not previously been mixed with glass.
In line with the footnote from Figure 4.1 that, ideally, glass and paper should 
be collected separately from each other, the LWP are currently trialling a twin‐
stream approach with separate collections of paper and card.  This trial has 
demonstrated an uplift in quality of paper collected for recycling.

Assessment May be necessary for quality
In order to provide the highest quality paper for recycling, it may be necessary 
to collect paper separately.

Glass

Quantity
(Tables 4.2 & 4.3)

BBC's collections achieve an above‐average yield of glass nationally and 
compared to other similar authorities.

Quality The County Council's MRF provider, MidUK Recycling, have stated that:
MidUK have upgraded their glass recycling at their Caythorpe site through 
implementation of a separate glass cleaning operation that ensures the 
maximum percentage of glass can be sent for remelt rather than the lower 
value use of aggregates.

Assessment Not necessary for quantity or quality

Metals & Plastics

Quantity
(Tables 4.2 & 4.3)

BBC's collections achieve an above‐average yield of both these streams.

Quality These streams are simple to sort from each other and from other wastes for 
recycling.

Assessment Not necessary for quantity or quality

Page 41



Page 18 of 23

In line with the above, it may be necessary to collect paper separately from other recyclables.  Thus, 
it is essential to assess whether such collections are practicable.

In light of this, the following options will be considered in each element of the practicability test for 
the separate collection of paper.  These options are in line with the WRAP consistency framework 
(see https://www.wrap.org.uk/collections‐and‐reprocessing/consistency):

1. Multi‐stream with separate food – a.k.a. kerbside sort
2. Two‐stream (fibres separate) with separate food – i.e. paper & card separately
3. Co‐mingled with separate food – This is the current service against which other options will 

be compared.

Whilst each of these options specifies "with separate food", neither that nor garden waste 
collections form a part of this assessment as they don't have a significant impact on the collection of 
dry recyclables.  It should, however, be noted that any future collections of food waste are likely to 
reduce contamination and increase quality of recycling collections thus increasing the likelihood that 
separate collections are necessary.

4.5 – Practicability Test – Technically Practicable?

This is a simple one‐stage test.

Multi‐stream
(kerbside sort)

Yes – Other authorities are already doing these, including those covering 
rural areas like the Somerset Waste Partnership.

Two‐stream
(separate paper & card)

Yes – The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's current trial has 
demonstrated that this can be done both in urban and in rural settings.

Assessment Both options are technically practicable

4.6 – Practicability Test – Environmentally Practicable?

The WRAP Route Map defines this test as follows:

The European Commission guidance on the WFD says that “‘Environmentally practicable’ 
should be understood such that the added value of ecological benefits justify possible 
negative environmental effects of the separate collection.

Multi‐stream (kerbside sort)

Benefits Recycling rate – As described in the necessity test, kerbside sort is unlikely to 
improve the quantity or quality of recycling.

Negatives Vehicle movements – WRAP analysis (see Tables 4.5 & 4.6 below, taken from their 
report at https://www.wrap.org.uk/collections‐and‐reprocessing/collections‐and‐
sorting/kerbside‐collection/guidance/kerbside‐recycling‐costs‐performance) suggests 
that it is unlikely to be possible to achieve similar overall yields to BBC's present 
scheme (see Table 4.3 above) using kerbside sort.  To get close, even in a rural area 
(the highest estimate of 188kg/HH compares to BBC's current 207kg), vehicles would 
need to operate on a weekly basis which would involve significant extra vehicle 
emissions (including commuting of additional staff).  Indeed, the best estimate for an 
urban area is only 137kg/HH, well short of BBC's current performance.

Assessment Not environmentally practicable – Significant negative impact

Page 42



Page 19 of 23

Table 4.5 – "Kerbside Sort Systems Modelled for Kerbsider and Stillage Vehicle Options (Rural)"

Table 4.6 – "Kerbside Sort Systems Modelled for Kerbsider and Stillage Vehicle Options (Urban)"

Page 43



Page 20 of 23

Two‐stream (separate paper & card)

Benefits Recycling quality – The LWP's twin‐stream trial produces clean paper and card which, 
in line with paper‐mill specifications is suitable for recycling into new paper/card 
products.  This "closed loop" recycling is more environmentally beneficial than 
recycling into lower quality products.
Recycling quantity – We anticipate that the quantity of paper and card recycled will 
also increase by recycling material which would otherwise have been lost:

 From recycling collections – e.g. paper/card made non‐recyclable due to 
leakage from food containers in the mixed recyclables

 From residual waste collections – A clearer system will help our residents to 
put the right waste in the right container

Negatives The current LWP trial is being run with the same vehicles following the same route, 
and tipping locations, as the previous comingled collections, simply alternating 
between paper & card and mixed collections.  Thus, there is no significant negative 
impact.
In order to ensure this, the trial will be monitored to ensure that the most 
appropriate container size is used to avoid any possible diversion (e.g. to residual 
collections, HWRCs or flytipping) of recyclable material for which there is insufficient 
space.

Assessment Environmentally practicable – Positive impact

4.7 – Practicability Test – Economically Practicable?

The WRAP Route Map defines this test as follows:

The European Commission guidance on the WFD says that “‘Economically practicable’ refers 
to a separate collection which does not cause excessive costs in comparison with the 
treatment [including recycling] of a non‐separated [co‐mingled or residual] waste stream, 
considering the added value of recovery and recycling and the principle of proportionality.”

Multi‐stream (kerbside sort)

An assessment of overall system costs needs to look at the balance between two factors:

 Increased collection costs – BBC's previous (2014) TEEP assessment established that the 
costs of operating kerbside‐sort collections are considerably higher than for twin‐stream or 
comingled collections.  Reasons for this include the need for additional staff and vehicles, 
and the provision of multiple additional containers for each household.

 Reduced processing costs – Previous work, including analysis undertaken on behalf of the 
LWP by WRAP, has suggested that the income received by selling high quality material to 
recycling companies might offset the additional collection costs.  However, market prices 
have fallen considerably and would no longer be sufficient to fund those collections.

At present, kerbside sort collections are not economically practicable.  However, should there be a 
significant and sustained upturn in the market for recyclables, this situation may change.  Thus, it is 
important to continue to monitor the situation going forwards.

Page 44



Page 21 of 23

Two‐stream (separate paper & card)

The ongoing LWP trial has demonstrated that whole system costs for twin‐stream paper and card 
collections can be significantly lower than those for mixed dry recyclables:

 Collection costs – The trial simply replaces one of the mixed recyclables collections (in each 
cycle of four weeks) with the collection of paper and card.  Thus, once initial costs (e.g. an 
additional bin for each household) have been covered, collection costs are essentially the 
same.

 Transport costs – Again, these are the same as for the current system as the delivery points 
are no further away, and the routes are the same; meaning no further miles are travelled.

 Processing costs – The quality paper and card collected in the trial is sufficient that paper 
reprocessors are happy to pay to receive it.  Compared to the cost charged for sorting it 
from the mixed recyclables, this represents a saving of over £100 per tonne including 
avoided processing costs.

Summary

Multi‐stream
(kerbside sort)

Not economically practicable  – Costs are considerably higher than the 
current comingled collections

Two‐stream
(separate paper & card)

Economically practicable – Collection costs are essentially the same as 
the current comingled collections, and processing costs are considerably 
lower.

4.8 – Practicability Test – Summary

Multi‐stream
(kerbside sort)

Two‐stream
(separate paper & card)

Technically Practicable? Yes Yes
Environmentally Practicable? No Yes
Economically Practicable? No Yes
Overall Assessment Not practicable Practicable

Page 45



Page 22 of 23

Step 5 – Obtain Sign‐off

The WRAP Route Map indicates a number of steps to ensure necessary approval and sign‐off of this 
assessment and associated actions.  We have undertaken each of these actions as follows.

You may wish to obtain a peer review of work 
carried out to assess your compliance.

This assessment has been undertaken in 
cooperation with the LWP to ensure we draw on 
each other's expertise.

You will need explicit sign‐off from senior
officers including:
 Head of service for waste and recycling; and
 A senior lawyer within the council.

See below.

It is also likely that the decisions taken will need 
to be reviewed by the council committee or 
member with lead responsibility for waste.

This assessment will be reviewed and approved 
by Cabinet. 

If the assessment indicates that substantial 
changes to the authority’s collection method 
are required, especially if there will be costs 
associated with the change, the minuted 
agreement of full council may be required.

Substantial changes are required, so Cabinet 
agreement will be sought.

The results and actions set out in this assessment are approved by:

SIGNATURE

Victoria Burgess
Assistant Director ‐ Operations

SIGNATURE

Michelle Sacks
Deputy Chief Executive

Step 6 – Retain Evidence

Simple once the rest of the process is complete.

 Check that this report fulfils the requirements as set out in Route Map notes on Step 6.

This step essentially refers to keeping records of any evidence to back up the information set out in 
this assessment, particularly with regard to the following categories.  Each of these corresponds to 
one step as described in this report:

1. Current waste collections
2. Current waste treatment and recycling processing
3. Applying the waste hierarchy
4. The Four Materials – Necessity and Practicability
5. Sign‐off

All such information has indeed been retained.

Page 46



Page 23 of 23

Step 7 – Re‐evaluation Process

As stated in the WRAP Route Map, this assessment is not a "once and for all” task.  We will repeat it 
on a regular basis, particularly in light of any changes in the landscape in which we are working.  
Indeed, this report represents a re‐evaluation of a previous assessment.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 
 

1 
 

 
Draft Enforcement Policy Framework 

 

AIM 

The Council is a Waste Collection Authority and has a statutory duty imposed by 

section 45 (1) of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“the 1990 Act”) to provide a 

collection service for household waste and to provide a commercial waste collection 

service to any business that requests it.  

The introduction of a twin stream kerbside recycling collection across Lincolnshire 

requires the waste collection authorities to review waste collection procedures to 

ensure that the service is introduced with the best means of achieving the aims of 

the Lincolnshire Waste Parternship.  

In order to deliver these aims, waste enforcement policies need to be reviewed.  

Failure to address these areas will result in reduced levels of recycling or incorrect 

presentation, leading to bins not being taken and accumulations of waste which may 

attract pests, damage health or become a nuisance, along with the damaging global 

effects of failing to recycle materials. 

Under Section 46(4) of the 1990 Act, the Council has specific powers to stipulate: 

 the size and type of the collection receptacle(s) 

 where the receptacle(s) must be placed for the purpose of collection and 

emptying 

 the materials or items which may or may not be placed within the 

receptacle(s). 

Through development of this policy framework, we aim to achieve increased 

compliance with waste collection requirements, effective enforcement for persistent 

non-compliance, and a cleaner and more welcoming street scene. 

This policy framework sets out what to do and what will happen should things go 

wrong and establishes the enforcement mechanisms for those who repeatedly fail to 

comply. It also seeks to provide a framework for education around waste collection 

requirements. 

 

1. Tools and powers 

1.1. Section 58 of the Deregulation Act 2015 amends section 46 of the 1990 Act, 

through new sections 46A to 46D to de-criminalise offences relating to 

incorrectly presented domestic waste. These amendments enable waste 

collection authorities in England to issue a written warning if a person fails to 

Page 49



Appendix C 
 

2 
 

comply with reasonable requirements regarding the storage of household 

waste.  These include (but not limited to) the following: 

 prohibiting the presentation of loose residual waste 

 where and when the receptacle is presented for collection 

 not to overload the receptacle (e.g. the bin lid is up) 

 what is to be placed within the receptacle. 

1.2. This penalty is a civil penalty rather than being a criminal offence, and 

therefore a Fixed Penalty Notice can be issued. Enforcement is only 

applicable where non-compliance causes a nuisance or is or is likely to be 

detrimental to the amenity of the localities and there has been continued or 

repeated non-compliance. 

 

2. Education 

2.1. The first step in response to any reports regarding waste collection will be to 

provide education, guidance and support, whether this be in relation to what 

to put in your recycling bin or when it should be presented. 

 

2.2. For example, the first time bin or other receptacle contamination is found the 

details will be recorded and information will be attached to the bin explaining 

the reason it has not been emptied and that it will be emptied on the next 

scheduled date (once the contamination has been removed). 

 

 

3. Early Intervention 

3.1. Where education does not address the issues of concern, we will seek to 

issue formal advice in writing, along with information on how to comply. We 

will seek to do this at the earliest opportunity to attempt to ensure compliance 

at an early stage. This intervention will serve as a warning that actions may 

escalate to service of a Fixed Penalty Notice should the individual(s) 

responsible fail to comply in the future. This will be in the form of a written 

warning as specified by the 1990 Act. Any specific requirements would be 

made clear and will provide details on how the recipient can achieve 

compliance and by when. Advice and guidance will remain available 

throughout this process. Legally, enforcement action could be taken 1 year 

from the service of the written warning. 

 

4. Enforcement 

4.1. Should the above steps fail to deliver the desired impact then we will utilise 

appropriate enforcement powers in order to bring about a resolution and 

maintain a clean and welcoming street scene. In such instances, we will seek 

to use powers contained within the 1990 Act. Education will continue to be 

provided at all stages of enforcement.  Designated officers are authorised 

Page 50



Appendix C 
 

3 
 

through delegations of the council’s constitution, to discharge the legal 

aspects of this policy. 

 

4.2. Enforcement is only applicable where non-compliance causes a nuisance or 

is or is likely to be detrimental to the amenity of the localities and there has 

been continued or repeated non-compliance (for example, but not limited to, 

blocking the footpath or limiting access).  

 

5. Failure to comply 

5.1. Where the above steps have been taken in relation to reports of non-

compliance with waste collection requirements, an authorised officer may 

serve on the person a ‘notice of intent’ to serve a Fixed Penalty Notice. 

5.2. A ‘notice of intent’ will contain information about: 

 The grounds for proposing to require payment of a fixed penalty 

 The amount of the penalty that the person would be required to pay 

 The right to make representations (within 28 days). 

5.3. A person on whom a ‘notice of intent’ is served may make representations to 

the authorised officer within 28 days as to why payment of a fixed penalty 

should not be required. If the representations are accepted, no monetary 

policy will be imposed. 

 

6. Service of a fixed penalty notice 

6.1. If there is still no compliance after this letter a ‘final notice’ to pay a fixed 

penalty will be issued as set by our current schedule of fees and charges. 

This is currently £80 which is the maximum that the government allows to be 

levied.   

6.2. If failure to comply continues, further fixed penalties may be issued. A 

warning will be issued prior to each monetary penalty. 

6.3. We may refuse to collect waste if notices are not complied with and relevant 

legal and waste contractual contravention conditions are met. This option will 

be carefully considered against any potential long-term impacts. 

 

7. Appeals against a notice 

7.1. Persons may also appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal against the decision to 

require payment of a fixed penalty. Payment periods are suspended until the 

case is determined. 

8. Payment of fixed penalties 

8.1. If payment is made within 30 calendar days of the date shown on the penalty, 

the charge will be reduced to £40. Failure to pay any penalty imposed under 

this policy will lead to recovery action either summarily, as a civil debt or 

through a high court or county court order. 

Page 51



Appendix C 
 

4 
 

9. Continued non-compliance 

9.1. Should there be continued non-compliance leading to the service of more 

than one fixed penalty notice within a 12 month period, consideration will be 

given to further actions other than the use of fixed penalties to include but not 

limited to: 

 Criminal proceedings under the 1990 Act (potentially leading to 

prosecutions). 

 Withdrawal of aspects of the service (for example garden / green waste 

and / or recycling bins). 

9.2. Such measures are as a last resort when all other avenues have expired.  

Such actions will be decided by the approporiately delegated officer. 

10. Investigation of reports 

10.1. We will approach all reports without bias or preconception. Investigations of 

complaints may involve the sharing of, or access to, partner information 

relating to the individuals or complaint. 

10.2. All parties will be kept up to date throughout the course of the investigation 

and will be notified of action being taken. 

11. Closing cases 

11.1. Cases will usually be closed following contact with the complainant or 

confirmation from officers that the issue no longer exists. We may close cases 

in circumstances where the complainant refuses to co-operate and/or engage 

in working with us in providing evidence of the impact of any relevant issues. 

11.2. If an individual remains dissatisfied they can use the Council’s complaints 

procedure. 

12. Further Guidance 

 Waste Guidance on Sections 35 to 54 of the Clean Neighbourhoods and 
Environment Act DEFRA 2006 

 Waste. Guidance. Fixed Penalty Notices issuing and enforcement by 
Councils. DEFRA, March 2015 

 Guidance on the legal definition of waste and its application DEFRA 2012 

 

13.  Supporting documentation 

13.1   This document relates to the provision of kerbside domestic waste collections. 

It does not cover other waste collection services such as those that deal with 

bulky items, clinical waste, household waste recycling centres, the collection 

of recycling from sites where recycling materials are deposited, (also known 

as ‘bottle banks’ or ‘bring sites’). Information on all waste collection services is 

available on the Council’s website and is kept under constant review. 

Page 52



Appendix C 
 

5 
 

14.  Monitoring 

14.1 This policy will be reviewed as required in conjunction with other members of 

the Lincolnshire waste Partnership and the relevant portfolio holder.  

15. Communication 

15.1 Once approved, this document will be published on our website. Alternative 

formats will be made available on request. 

15.2 We will produce literature to make individuals and businesses aware of their 

responsibilities and outlining what actions we will take.  

15.3 Wherever appropriate, and if possible, information is made available in 

languages other than English. Bold print versions can also be made available 

upon request. If required an interpretation service can be used. Braille stickers 

are available for bins where sight problems are an issue. 

15.4 We will take an active approach to publicising action taken where this presents 

no risk to individuals involved and is deemed of benefit to the wider community. 

 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

                                            

 

 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 JANUARY 2021 

SUBJECT: CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT UPDATE 

KEY DECISION: 

  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

N/A 

 

Councillor Paul Skinner 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: 

Climate Change and Environment Manager 

All 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

SUMMARY 

To update the Committee on progress of the nine recommendations agreed by Full Council in 

January 2020, share a draft Environment Policy for consideration and to brief on next steps. 

 

 

  

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 2



 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Committee recognises the progress already achieved in delivering the nine 

recommendations approved by Full Council in January 2020 and support the next steps as 

outlined in this paper.  

The Committee recommends adoption of the Environment Policy to Cabinet. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To update on, and progress, work on the climate change agenda. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

The Council could decide to take no further action however this would go against the intentions 

of the climate change and environment emergency declared in January 2020 and make it almost 

impossible for the Council to meet the target it has set to reduce its carbon emissions in 

advance of timetable set out by the UK Parliament. 

 

REPORT 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Climate Change Working Group, established by the Environment and Performance 

Committee, met between July and December 2019 and was comprised of five elected members 

including the Portfolio Holder, eight members of staff and one co-opted member of the public. The 

group submitted its nine recommendations to Full Council in January 2020. 

1.2 Unfortunately, progress against the recommendations agreed at Full Council have been 

impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic and the necessary resources to take forward the work had 

until recently not been identified. The Strategic Alliance with East Lindsey District Council (ELDC) 

gives a renewed opportunity to pick this work up and to share knowledge and experience to help 

both authorities take action on the climate change agenda. 

1.3 This report provides an update on progress to date against the nine recommendations and the 

next steps that need to be taken. 

2.0 PROGRESS 

2.1 Progress under each recommendation is outlined fully in Appendix 1. 

2.2 In summary, some areas have been taken forward but there has been limited resourcing 

available to action all of the recommendations in a strategic manner. East Lindsey District Council 

(ELDC) appointed a Climate Change and Environment Manager in April 2020 and as part of the 

Strategic Alliance, that position is now supporting the work for this Council. 

2.3 The new corporate strategy 2020-24 includes a priority around environmental awareness and 

accountability and includes several commitments including to develop a Carbon Reduction Plan 

Page 56



 
 

and ensure that every service and policy delivers on the climate change commitments of the 

Council. 

2.4 The Council is in the process of commissioning the Carbon Trust to produce a new Carbon 

Reduction Plan which will also provide an updated baseline of the current carbon footprint. Work 

will begin on this in early 2021. The Carbon Trust have recently completed a similar exercise for 

ELDC and it is hoped there will be opportunities to align both plans and identify savings through 

joint projects. 

2.5 As part of the process of developing the Carbon Reduction Plan it is likely the Council will need 

to further refine its current emissions target to include a specific date. This will enable a carbon 

reduction pathway for the authority to be produced. 

2.6. In declaring a climate change and environment emergency, the Council recognised the 

profound implications this has for the Council and its services and the nine recommendations 

demonstrate a clear intention to embed a culture of environmental consideration and carbon 

reduction across all areas of the Council. 

2.7 To ensure this happens, an Environment Policy is being developed which will set the framework 

under which relevant plans and strategies sit e.g. the Carbon Reduction Plan. This will provide the 

mandate for climate change and environment action and ensure that every service area is working 

to an agreed set of objectives which are consistent with the new corporate priority. A draft has 

been appended to this report and the Committee are asked to recommend its adoption to Cabinet. 

3.0 NEXT STEPS 

3.1 The Council’s ability to influence the climate change and environment agenda reaches far 

beyond its own direct operations, however it needs to ensure it has a handle on its own activities 

before reaching out to the wider Borough. 

3.2 It is also important that all Council staff have an awareness of the far reaching implications of 

climate change, the multiple benefits that taking action can achieve and an understanding of 

where changes can be made. A Carbon Literacy training programme is being developed and should 

be rolled out to all staff and members in 2021. 

3.2 The next step will be to produce a Climate Change Strategy for the Strategic Alliance as a whole 

which sets the context for Boston and East Lindsey. Both Councils are responsible for only a small 

proportion of the emissions generated in their area but they have an important community 

leadership responsibility in helping to take forward action. 

3.3 The Climate Change Strategy will identify key sectors and stakeholders with which to engage 

and set out an action plan for ensuring Boston and East Lindsey as a whole work collaboratively to 

reduce emissions and enhance the natural environment for residents, businesses and visitors. 

3.4 Linked to this will be the establishment of a Climate Change Assembly for Boston in mid-2021 

which will bring the key stakeholders together. One of the first roles of that Assembly will be to 

comment on and finalise the Climate Change Strategy. 

4.0 RESOURCES 

4.1 As already recognised, the climate change and environment emergency declaration will have a 

profound impact for the Council, but less so in the long term than seeking to do nothing. 

Page 57



 
 

4.2 The Carbon Reduction Plan will require significant financial resourcing however the anticipated 

costs of this are yet to be determined. A further report will be brought in due course. Funding for 

this work is likely to be split between two key areas. The first is through grant funding and we have 

already seen the first of these opportunities available to local authorities for carbon reduction in 

the form of the Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund announced by BEIS in October 2020. This fund 

has already been used to obtain funding for a carbon reduction feasibility study of the Municipal 

Buildings and St John’s Depot and a follow-up bid is due to be made in January 2021 for identified 

works. The second is anticipated to be an ‘invest to save’ fund established by the Council, or the 

Strategic Alliance as a whole, funded either through reserves or through an external loan such as 

those through Salix finance which provides interest-free Government funding to the public sector, 

specifically to tackle the carbon reduction agenda. 

4.3 The wider climate change and environment remit will also require resourcing however across 

the Strategic Alliance we need to recognise the service areas this touches on most strongly and 

which are already contributing towards the agenda in some form and look at how we can maximise 

those resources. 

4.4 A climate change and environment team will be established across the Strategic Alliance by 

April 2021 with opportunities for staff to contribute to that team on a full-time, part-time or 

secondment basis or to simply support the work through championing it within their service areas. 

4.5 A joint climate change and environment ‘task force’ will also be formed with staff and member 

representation to help monitor progress on the agenda and ensure it remains a priority for all 

service areas.   

CONCLUSION 
 
This report sets out a number of next steps for taking forward the climate change and environment 

work programme at Boston Borough Council in line with the nine recommendations agreed in 

January 2020. The Committee are asked to agree the following recommendations: 

Recommendation 1 – The Committee recognises the progress already achieved in delivering the 

nine recommendations approved by Full Council in January 2020 and support the next steps as 

outlined in this paper.  

Recommendation 2 – The Committee recommends adoption of the Environment Policy to 

Cabinet. 

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
While this report does not in itself have any direct financial implications, delivery of the climate 
change and environment work programme will need resourcing. As this becomes clearer 
individual business cases will be developed for the various work areas and specific projects with 
reports being brought before members for approval where the financial thresholds in the 
Constitution determine we should do so. The Carbon Reduction Plan is expected to cost in the 
region of £17,500 and the Carbon Trust is currently working up a full proposal document on this 
basis. 
 
 

Page 58



 
 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no legal implications stemming directly from this report however it will help to reduce 

the risk of this Council not meeting its current legal duties in relation to the natural environment 

and climate change by demonstrating a commitment to tackling the challenges faced. 

 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

This report is intended to have a positive impact on the climate change and environment 

agenda by clearly outlining the steps that need to be taken in order to tackle the climate change 

emergency declared by this Council and meet the targets that have been identified. 

 

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS 

None 

 

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None 

 

CONSULTATION 

Consultation has taken place with Leader of the Council as Portfolio Holder for the environment. 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Progress to date by recommendation 

APPENDIX B Environment Policy (draft) 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Corporate Strategy 2020-2024 www.mybostonuk.com 

 

  

Page 59



 
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

A report on this item has not been previously considered by a Council body. 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Sarah Baker, 07917 337857 

sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk 

Signed off by: Christian Allen 

christian.allen@boston.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Councillor Paul Skinner 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 60

mailto:sarah.baker@e-lindsey.gov.uk
mailto:christian.allen@boston.gov.uk


 
 

 

 

APPENDIX A: Progress to date by recommendation 

RESOLVED that 

1. Boston Borough Council declares an ongoing climate and environment emergency and commits 

to a pledge to reduce the Council’s carbon footprint and become net-zero carbon in advance of the 

timetable declared by UK Parliament. 

Since declaring the climate and environment emergency and resolving to become net-zero 

carbon in advance of the timetable declared by UK Parliament, the Covid-19 pandemic has 

overshadowed 2020 and slowed the pace of any further progress in this area. A current baseline 

needs to be established with which to benchmark any future carbon reduction activities against. 

It is proposed that the Carbon Trust be engaged to produce a carbon reduction plan for Boston 

Borough Council. This work has recently been completed in East Lindsey. This will provide an 

opportunity to align aspirations and identify areas where joint feasibility studies and potential 

projects can be actioned which will help reduce the financial outlay for both organisations. As 

part of the carbon reduction plan development process, Boston Borough Council should look to 

identify a specific target date in relation to its carbon emissions aspirations as this will be 

required in order to produce a carbon reduction pathway. One option may be to consider 

aligning this with ELDC which has committed to become net-zero by 2040 with a 45% reduction 

in emissions against the 2019 baseline by 2027 but the Carbon Trust will advise on this as part of 

their work. 

2. All Council reports, policies and practices shall incorporate climate change mitigation and 

environmental impact as key drivers for consideration. 

All council reports are now required to consider any climate change implications. As part of work 
to align reports across the Strategic Alliance, guidance has been developed to provide a clearer 
process to assist officers in assessing impact against the climate change and environment agenda 
in a consistent and effective manner. 
 
3. UK Government be requested to provide financial support to Councils to achieve/improve upon 

their carbon reduction commitments. 

The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) has just announced a £1bn 

public sector decarbonisation fund which is part of a package of measures to support the 

country’s journey to net zero by 2050. Other schemes announced include the Green Homes 

Grant for improving the EPC rating of domestic properties and further funding streams are 

anticipated to be coming forward shortly including via the Midlands Energy Hub. There are 

existing networks such as the Greater Lincolnshire Energy Efficiency Network which have links 

into Government ministers and are able to raise some of the issues and concerns about access to 

funding. Government is committed to a green recovery post-Covid.  

4. Include the environment, carbon reduction and halting climate change within the Council’s 

emerging corporate strategy. 

The new corporate strategy 2020-24 includes a priority around environmental awareness and 

accountability with a commitment to: 

Page 61



 
 

1. Develop a Carbon Reduction Plan 

2. Ensure that every service and policy deliver on the Climate Change commitments of the 

Council 

3. Proactively educate and enforce against environmental crime, such as fly tipping and 

littering 

4. Work with Partners to encourage the Borough to produce less waste and recycle more 

5. Be climate aware and spearhead the change in thinking about the impact our actions 

have, not only on the local environment here in Boston but also on the entire planet 

Development of an overarching Environment Policy for Boston Borough Council will help to 

embed this corporate priority by providing a framework for action across the authority and help 

to ensure the environment is given equal consideration alongside social and economic factors as 

one of the three pillars of sustainability. 

5. Collate and promote the positive activity and success of the Council’s work across all areas of 

environmental good practice. 

A Communications Plan should be drawn up for the climate change and environment agenda 

across the Strategic Alliance to ensure that these good news stories are communicated both 

externally to our residents and wider stakeholders but also to ensure members and staff are fully 

aware of all the work being undertaken. 

6. The Environment & Performance Committee be requested to adopt Climate Change within its 

terms of reference. 

Climate Change has been added to the terms of reference of the committee. The constitution 

needs to be formally updated to reflect this and this action is in progress. 

Under the detail of this recommendation a citizen’s climate assembly is mentioned and is 

something that should be taken forward in 2021. A similar forum is being planned for East 

Lindsey. It is however important before we start to engage in this process that we have our own 

house in order and it would be prudent to have the Carbon Reduction Plan and Environment 

Policy in place. A Climate Change Strategy for the Strategic Alliance also needs to be developed 

to provide more detail about the issues for the Borough of Boston and East Lindsey District and 

this should be drafted prior to establishing the climate change assembly/forum to enable 

stakeholders, including those relevant at a county and regional level, to feed in to that document 

and help set the wider agenda.  

7. Develop, cost and propose a series of “quick wins” and activity reporting and monitoring 

progress to the E & P Committee over the next two years. 

‘Quick wins’ are fine but need to be part of a strategic, measured approach to addressing climate 

change action across the authority. On their own, ‘quick wins’ will provide a good headline but 

will not ensure that a culture change is embedded across all service areas. A series of steps as 

outlined need to be taken to set the mandate for climate change and wider environmental 

action. The Covid-19 pandemic has impacted on the opportunity to bring forward many ‘quick 

wins’ but there has been some positive progress made. Plans are in motion to look at tree 

planting opportunities in 2021, hopefully with support from the Boston Town Area Committee, 

and a successful grant application has funded the services of ENGIE to undertake a feasibility 

study of carbon reduction opportunities at the Municipal Buildings and St John’s Depot. Covid-19 

Page 62



 
 

itself has also brought new ways of working, including the ability to video conference, reducing 

the need for commuting to and from meetings. 

8. Explore options for cost effective, accredited and audited options for commercial carbon 

offsetting schemes. 

An initial decision for the Council is to clarify its approach to offsetting. The Council has agreed to 

be net zero in advance of the UK Government. Under the Carbon Trust’s definition of net zero, 

the active removal and storage of residual emissions of Greenhouse Gases (GHG) from the 

atmosphere is undertaken in a process known as GHG removal. This is done through certified 

methods such as habitat creation and management and direct capture of C02 from the air 

through the use of technology which is not yet widely available. Commercial offsetting schemes 

which allow carbon credits to be purchased to offset emissions are not permitted under a net 

zero target. 

9. Move to a “Green Energy” source utility supplier as soon as possible. 

Boston Borough Council’s current energy contract renews in October 2021. The procurement 

process will give the option next spring for us to move to a Green tariff when the current 

contract ends and a decision on whether or not to do this will be needed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 63



 
 

 

 

APPENDIX B: Environment Policy (draft) 

ENVIRONMENT POLICY 

Boston Borough Council has declared an ongoing climate and environment emergency which 

recognises the need for urgent action and commits to ensuring environmental consideration and 

carbon reduction is embedded across all activities.  

The environment is one of the three pillars of sustainability and should be equally balanced 

alongside economic and social considerations to achieve positive change across the Borough. The 

Council recognises the impact of its own operations and is committed to using its powers and 

influence to minimise and address this while supporting others to do the same. 

This Environment Policy provides a framework from which more detailed strategic documents and 

project plans will be developed. It sets out four key themes that provide the context for the Council 

as it works to deliver the new corporate priority around environmental awareness and 

accountability.  

Theme one: Protecting and recovering our natural environment 

Theme two: Mitigating and adapting to climate change  

Theme three: Enhancing our built environment 

Theme four: Ensuring a sustainable approach to waste and resource management 

Under each theme, several priorities have been identified. 

 Theme one: Protecting and recovering our natural environment 

o Work collaboratively to ensure the Borough’s natural capital is recognised, better 

managed and more connected 

o Ensure development proposals maximise opportunities to retain, protect and 

enhance biodiversity 

o Maintain and enhance the quality of Council-managed landholdings to maximise 

biodiversity potential 

o Recognise and develop the role that the Borough’s green spaces have in connecting 

people to nature and supporting the health and wellbeing of residents 

 

 Theme two: Mitigating and adapting to climate change 

o Implement actions to reduce the carbon footprint of the Council’s own estate and 

operations in line with adopted targets 

o Work collaboratively to support the wider Borough in taking action to address the 

climate and environment emergency 

o Promote and encourage the development and use of renewable energy solutions 

o Work with local businesses to support the development of a low carbon economy  

o Build increased resilience of our communities by supporting them to adapt to a 

changing climate  

 

Page 64



 
 

 Theme three: Enhancing our built environment 

o Implement sustainable design and management practices in all Council-led 

developments 

o Ensure planning policy sets strong ambition for low carbon, energy efficient new 

housing development schemes and retrofits of existing stock which are fit for the 

future 

o Provide advice and support to residents to eliminate fuel poverty and pursue energy 

efficient, affordable heating options  

o Develop an approach that ensures net gain delivers for both biodiversity and our 

residents 

 

 Theme four: Ensuring a sustainable approach to waste and resource management 

o Ensure procurement decisions consider the environmental impacts of goods and 

services working closely with suppliers/contractors  

o Minimise avoidable single-use plastic usage across Council operations  

o Maximise opportunities to support residents, business and visitors to reduce, reuse 

and recycle their waste and take a tough stance against environmental crime 

o Demonstrate a commitment to responsible water management across Council 

operations  

o Promote sustainable travel behaviours amongst local authority employees  

The four key themes outlined in this Environment Policy will be considered across Council 

operations, ensuring recognition that a healthy natural environment provides the foundations for 

strong economic and social prosperity. 

Under each theme, any statutory obligations will be identified alongside appropriate additional 

targets and actions under the development of relevant strategies and plans where necessary.  

 

 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: ENVIRONMENT AND PERFORMANCE COMMITTEE 

DATE: 5 JANUARY 2021 

SUBJECT: WORK PROGRAMME Inc. Q2 PERFORMANCE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: N/A 

REPORT AUTHOR: ASSISTANT DIRECTOR - REGULATION 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 
SUMMARY 
 

The work programme is a standing item at all meetings and as agreed by committee the 
performance monitoring to be provided each quarter to support committee’s consideration 
of possible future reporting.  
 

As the Committee is fully aware, one of its core functions is scrutinising the Council’s 
performance in relation to Corporate Priority 1 – Prosperity and Corporate Priority 3 – 
Place.   
 
Quarter 2 performance information is now available for these two priorities and is set out 
at appendix 1 of this report and will be presented by the IT and Transformation Manager. 
 
Following committees questioning in respect of the performance reporting, consideration 
should then be given to the work programme at appendix 2 of the report, with a view to 
scheduling reports for forthcoming meetings. 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The Committee is asked to review the performance data attached at Appendix 1 and 
consider if any future scrutiny is necessary on any subject identified. 
 
 

 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

Given that the remit of this Committee is the scrutiny of Corporate Priorities CP1 - 
Prosperity and CP3 - Place, regularly reviewing performance in these areas and deciding 
whether it leads to the need for further scrutiny demonstrates robust and proper 
governance.   
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 

Not to consider the performance reporting.  Not to schedule reporting onto the work 
programme. 
 
 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with this scrutiny report. 
 
 

 

 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
There are no legal implications associated with this scrutiny report. 
 
 
 

 
ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
No other implications associated with this scrutiny report have been identified. 
 

 
CONSULTATION 
Corporate Management Team  
 

APPENDICES 
 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX 1 2020/21 Quarter 2 Performance Data for Corporate 
Priorities CP1 - Prosperity and CP3 – Place. 

APPENDIX 2 Work Programme 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 were 
used in the production of this report 
 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

No other Council Committee has yet considered the performance information appended to 
this report.    
 

 

Page 68



 
 

Performance Q2 2020/21 – Environment & Performance Summary 
 
Performance measures: directly within the Council’s control; used to monitor how our services are 
performing against set targets 
 
Trend measures: provide context and not directly within the Council’s control; used to inform decision 
making and policy. 
 
Key to abbreviations: 
Performance: : Performance better than target; : Performance on target; : Performance worse than 
target 
 

Assistant Director lead: AF: Andy Fisher, Assets; CA: Christian Allen – Regulation; JG: James Gilbert – 
Organisation & Corporate Services; LR: Lydia Rusling – Towns Fund; MG: Mike Gildersleeves – Planning; 
MH: Michelle Howard – Housing and Wellbeing; NC: Neil Cucksey – Economic Growth; PP: Phil Perry – 
Support Services & Partnerships; VB: Victoria Burgess – Operations  
 
Portfolio: JN: Jonathan Noble, Finance & Commercial; MG: Martin Griggs, Housing and Communities; NW: 
Nigel Welton, Deputy Leader – Economic Development and Planning; PS: Paul Skinner, Leader; RA: Richard 
Austin, Heritage; TA: Tracey Abbott, Town Centre; YS: Yvonne Stevens, Environmental Services 
 

 
Corporate Priority 1: Prosperity 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
(Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

% of major planning applications 
determined on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 91% 75%  90.74% 75%  

% minor planning applications 
determined on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 83% 65%  81.99% 65%  

% of all other applications determined 
on time* 

MG NW 1 EP 89% 80%  87.67% 80%  

% of major appeals allowed against the 
number of major applications 
determined by the authority within the 
previous 2 years 

MG NW 1 EP 2.78% 10%  0% 10%  

% of minor and other appeals allowed 
against the number of minor and other 
applications determined by the 
authority within the previous 2 years 

MG NW 1 EP 1.32% 20%  1.34% 20%  

Comment: The Government measure planning performance over a 2 year period. The performance figures 
above show Boston’s overall performance over the last 2 years against target and the graphs over the page 
show the trend by quarter. 

                                                
*
 ‘On time’ – within statutory target determination period or such extended period as agreed in writing with the 

applicant/agent 

Page 69



 
 

Performance measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
(Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Number of businesses visited to 
support business growth 

NC NW 1 EP 79 50  30 25  

Comment: Due to the pandemic some of these visits either took place via Teams/Zoom/phone or face2face 

Number of initiatives to support skills, 
in partnership with the business 
community 

NC NW 1 EP 11 10  6 5  

Number of business events attended to 
promote the Borough 

NC NW 1 EP 8 4  4 2  

Comment: 2 events attended online 

 
CP1: trend measures 
 

 
 

 

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Major 93% 78% 75% 89% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

Target 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Major planning applications determined on time 

Page 70



 
 

 
 

 
 
Income from planning applications in Q2 was £83,489. Income continues to be below target - approx 36% 
down year to date. Overall volume of applications is only marginally lower than equivalent period in 2019. 
Likely linked to effect of Covid-19. 
 
33 planning applications were determined with time extensions in Q2 (46% of applications determined in 
the quarter). This is a slight increase owing to staffing issues over the summer period. 
 

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Minor 68% 83% 89% 88% 76% 81% 85% 93% 

Target 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Minor planning applications determined on time 

18/19: Q3 18/19: Q4 19/20: Q1 19/20: Q2 19/20: Q3 19/20: Q4 20/21: Q1 20/21: Q2 

Other 88% 74% 85% 93% 96% 80% 97% 90% 

Target 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Other planning applications determined on time 

Page 71



 
 

 
 

Collectable debit less than previous years due to reliefs awarded to support businesses in 2020/21 
following Covid-19 outbreak. 
 
Every non-domestic property has a rateable value (RV) which is determined by the Valuation Office Agency 
(VOA). The RV is broadly representative of the amount for which the premises could be let per annum. 
 

The council multiplies the RV of an individual property, by a 'multiplier' (the national non-domestic 
multiplier) set by central government. It is set for the whole of England and is effective from the 1 April 
each year. 
 

This gives the gross rates payable for each property before any entitlement to reliefs, exemptions or 
discounts are applied. 
 

Depending on the individual circumstances of the ratepayer, there are a range of reliefs, discounts and 
exemptions that they may be entitled to in order to lower the amount of business rates payable. After 
these reliefs have been applied to a business rates account, the amount payable is referred to as the net 
rates payable. 
 

Both the amount of gross and net rates payable fluctuate on a daily basis. Some examples that are likely to 
change the amount of gross and/or net rates payable are shown below: - 

 Increases and decreases to the RV of a property 

 New properties entering the rating list 

 Properties being deleted from the rating list 

 Changes to the structure of a property (merges/splits) 

 Entitlement to discounts, reliefs and exemptions being applied to accounts 

 Entitlement to discounts, reliefs and exemptions being removed from accounts 
 

More detailed information can be found on our website  
https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Business-rates-2020-21.pdf 

 
 

 -  

 5.000  

 10.000  

 15.000  

 20.000  

 25.000  

 30.000  

17/18
: Q3 

17/18
: Q4 

18/19
: Q1 

18/19
: Q2 

18/19
: Q3 

18/19
: Q4 

19/20
: Q1 

19/20
: Q2 

19/20
: Q3 

19/20
: Q4 

20/21
: Q1 

20/21
: Q2 

Gross (£m) 24.32 24.26 25.53 25.36 25.45 25.40 26.54 26.37 26.31 26.33 27.26 26.55 

Net (£m) 19.87 19.73 20.63 20.30 20.31 20.24 20.71 20.28 20.07 19.90 11.58 10.65 

Collectable business rates 

Page 72

https://www.mybostonuk.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Business-rates-2020-21.pdf


 
 

Corporate Priority 3: Place 
 

Performance 
measures 

C
M

T 
le

ad
 

P
o

rt
fo

lio
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Sc
ru

ti
n

y 

2019/20 
(full year) 

2020/21 
(Q2) 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

A
ct

u
al

 

Ta
rg

et
 

P
e

rf
o

rm
an

ce
 

Car parking income 
against monthly 
profile* 

AF JN 3 EP £885,940 £860,000  £98,731 £430,000  

Comment: Free parking was implemented from 27 March - 15 June due to Covid 19 lockdown, and re-
introduced again for 2.5 hour slots from 29 June 2020 to encourage shopping in the town. 

Car Parking permit 
income vs budget 

AF JN 3 EP £99,744 £89,950  £19,765 £44,960  

Comment: Free parking was also available to permit holders from 27 March – 15 June. 

Household waste 
reused, recycled, 
composted 

VB YS 3 EP 41.01% 41.52%  44.63% 46.37%  

Residual household 
waste per household 

VB YS 3 EP 569kg 553kg  303kg 275kg  

% of fly tip reports 
responded to within 3 
working days 

VB YS 3 EP 69.30% 88%  97.10% 88%  

Event income NC YS 3 EP New measure See comment below 

Comment: We have been able to run one event - Outdoor Cinema with limited numbers. Event went well 
and was received well. 

Market Income NC TA 3 EP £117,806 £160,000  £34,162 £80,000  
Comment: Market income is down as a result of Covid-19. We have seen a strong market return since June 
but have lost some space due to the new layout needed to allow additional room for Covid-19 and social 
distancing 

 
CP3: trend measures 

 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of Stage 1 Antisocial 
Behaviour (ASB) letters 

14 11 21 26 19 15 22 25 13 9 31 8 1 23 

Number of Stage 2 Antisocial 
Behaviour (ASB) letters 

7 7 5 7 3 6 1 6 5 5 23 47 2 4 

Number of Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements (ABAs) 

1 5 6 0 1 0 0 0 6 0 7 3 0 0 

Number of Civil Injunctions 
secured 

0 1 1 1 3 0 0 0 0 6 2 0 0 0 

Number of Community 
Protection Notice Warnings 
issued 

0 0 0 0 0 5 1 2 0 0 0 2 0 0 

Number of Community 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 0 0 0 

                                                
*
 This includes income from tickets purchased via the MiPermit app 

Page 73



 
 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Protection Notices (CPNs) 

Number of Criminal Behaviour 
Orders issued (CBOs) 

New measure 2 0 0 0 0 0 

 

 
 

 
 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 109 128 170 61 129 73 53 32 

Q1 154 106 114 98 73 70 57 32 

154 

106 114 98 
73 70 57 

32 

109 

128 

170 

61 
129 

73 

53 

32 

Number of CCTV directed/assisted arrests 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 50 75 98 49 52 51 47 35 

Q1 43 52 70 70 60 51 59 26 

43 52 
70 70 60 51 59 

26 

50 

75 

98 

49 
52 

51 
47 

35 

Number of CCTV evidential packages 

Page 74



 
 

 
 
Guildhall 
 
Due to Covid-19 the Guildhall was closed throughout the duration of Quarter 1. 
 
The Guildhall reopened on 19 August 2020 after implementing rigorous systems and a pre-booking system 
for access. There were 126 pre-booked visits in Q2. This system is still in place. 
 
During this period the Guildhall has been regularly used as a venue for internal and external partner 
meetings during establishing the new Strategic Alliance which has required full booking of the building on 
these occasions. This is in addition to the 126 pre-booked visits. 

 
Commercial waste: 

 

Trend measures 2020/21 

% growth in income in commercial waste service compared to previous year +1.22% 

% growth in number of commercial waste customers compared to previous year +29.70% 

 
 
Recycling trend: 
 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Q2 220 449 418 234 323 164 174 101 

Q1 354 228 324 215 287 184 138 175 

354 

228 
324 

215 
287 

184 
138 175 

220 449 

418 

234 

323 

164 
174 101 

Number of CCTV incidents recorded 

Page 75



 
 

 
 
Residual waste trend: 
 

 
 
  

36.00% 

38.00% 

40.00% 

42.00% 

44.00% 

46.00% 

48.00% 

50.00% 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

Cumulative recycling % 44.15% 41.52% 48.52% 46.37% 43.70% 41.01% 44.31% 44.63% 

Cumulative recycling % 

125 

130 

135 

140 

145 

150 

155 

18/19: 
Q3 

18/19: 
Q4 

19/20: 
Q1 

19/20: 
Q2 

19/20: 
Q3 

19/20: 
Q4 

20/21: 
Q1 

20/21: 
Q2 

Per household (kg) 155 149 137 138 145 149 151 152 

Residual waste per household (kg) 

Page 76



 
 

Fly tipping: 
 

 
 
 

 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

Oct 19 Nov 
19 

Dec 
19 

Jan 20 Feb 
20 

Mar 
20 

Apr 
20 

May 
20 

Jun 20 Jul 20 Aug 
20 

Sep 
20 

Number 108 102 89 149 111 172 193 180 264 257 225 268 

Number of fly tip incidents (by month) 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

Fly tip incidents by type 

19/20: Q2 20/21: Q2 

Page 77



 
 

 
 
This does not correspond exactly to the number of ‘other household’ items overall because there may be 
multiple types of items in one ‘other household’ incident. 
 

 
 
 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

Furniture Textiles Wood Garden Toys Mattresses 

19/20: Q2 62 20 39 6 19 39 

20/21: Q2 124 61 48 23 46 81 

'Other household' items 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

Single Item Car Boot Small Van Transit Van Tipper Significant 

19/20: Q2 14 54 118 68 12 3 

20/21: Q2 28 117 381 177 29 1 

Fly tip incidents by volume 

Page 78



 
 

 
 
The set working days for collection changed from 2 to 3 in September 2020. 
 
Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs): 
 
205 FPNs were issued in Q2 (July to September 2020). 123 have been paid to date. 
 
31 prosecutions have commenced. These have been heard in chambers but the results have been delayed 
as a result of the court closures during lockdown. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

Same day as reported Within set working 
days 

Over set working days 

19/20: Q2 25.70% 79.58% 20.42% 

20/21: Q2 34.95% 96.15% 3.85% 

Collection of fly tips 

Page 79



 
 

 
 

Page 80



 
 

Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2019/20/21 
 

THIS COMMITTEE’S REMIT IS ALIGNED TO COPORATE PRIORITIES:   CP1 PROSPERITY   and   CP3 PLACE 
 

DATE REPORT REPORTING PORTFOLIO CABINET 
 

 

18.06.19 
 

1. Work Programme / Annual Scrutiny Report 
 

 

Chairman and Lead Officer 
 

 

- 

 

17.07.19 
 

 

 
30.07.19 

 

1. Climate Change 
2. CCTV Policy Review and Annual Performance 

Update 
3. Crime & Disorder Annual Review /ASB/PSPO)  
4. Boston Alternative Energy Facility (BAEF) 

Consultation Phase 3  
 

 

 

Chief Executive 
CCTV Manager  
Anti-Social Behaviour Officer 
 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 

 

Cllr P Skinner  
“ 
“ 
 

Cllr N Welton 
 

 

11.09.19 
 

 

 

 

24.09.19 

 

1. BAEF – Update by Representatives 
2. Pilgrims 2020 – Update 
3. Climate Change Working Group - Update 
4. Replacement Bin Charges 
5. Night time Economy 

 

 

Deputy Chief Executive 
Head of Place and Space  
Group Chairman Cllr A Dorrian 
Head of Env. Operations  

 

Cllr N Welton 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr A Arundell 

“ 
Cllr Y Stevens 

 

23.10.19 
 

 

 

05.11.19 

 

1. Climate Change Working Group - Update 
2. Night-Time Economy Inquiry Evening - Update  
3. New Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny 

in Combined Authorities 
4. Work Programme 

 

 

Group Chairman Cllr A Dorrian 
Head of Environmental Ops.  
Head of Environmental Ops. 
 
Standing Item 

 

 
Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 

 

 

04.12.19 
 

 

 

07.01.20 
 

 

1. Climate Change Working Group – Update 
2. Air Quality Plan 
3. T&F Review Markets – update on recommendations. 
4. PSPO Dog Fouling  
5. Work Programme - Q2 Performance and Internal 

Audit Scrutiny Report.  

 

Group Chairman Cllr A Dorrian 
Head of Regulatory Services 
Head of Place and Space 
Head of Environmental Ops. 
Standing Item. 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr Y Stevens 
Cllr C Sharman 
Cllr Y Stevens 

 

22.01.20 

 
 

     

P
age 81



 
 

03.03.20 1.  The Pilgrims 2020 & Allied Opportunities 
     (update) 
2. Work Programme  
(Note:  This meeting will be held at Boston’s Guildhall to 
accommodate an on-site tour supporting the 2020 report.)  

Head of Place and Space 
 
Standing Item 

Cllr D Brown 
 

19.02.19 

 

 

28.04.20 
 

Meeting Cancelled. 
 

 

Environment and Performance Committee Work Programme 2020–21 
 

 

14.07.20 
 

 

1. Annual CCTV update 
2. Annual ASB update 
3. Work Programme and Quarter 4 Performance. 

(Followed by an update by the Chairman on the Task and Finish 
Group review)  

 

Head of Regulatory Services 
Head of Regulatory Services 
Standing Item 

 

Cllr P Skinner 
Cllr P Skinner 
 
 

 
 

 

03.09.20 
 

 
1. BAEF Consultation 

 

Presentation by Mr Bower  
 
Cllr Y Stevens 

 

09.09.2020 

 

03.11.20 
 

 

1. Quarter 1 Performance / Work Programme 
2. Task and Finish Group Report  
3. Draft Annual Scrutiny Report  

 

Standing Item. 
Assistant Director – Assets 
Lead Officer to present 

 
Cllr P Skinner 

 

 

02.12.2020 

 

05.01.21 
 

1. Kerbside Twin Stream Recycling initiative* 
2. Progress report on the 9 Climate Change 

recommendations approved by Full Council in 
January 2020 and scrutiny of a draft Environment 
Policy.  

3. Quarter 2 Performance /  Work Programme 
 

Assistant Director - Operations 
Assistant Director - Regulation  
 
 
Standing Item. 
 

Cllr Y Stevens 
Cllr P Skinner 

 

20.01.2021 

 

23.02.21 
 

 

1. Update on the Task and Finish Group 
recommendations. (Alcohol Licensing / ASB) 

 
 
 

Assistant Director - Regulation  
 

Cllr P Skinner  

24.02.2021 

 

27.04.21 
 

 
1. Quarter 3 Performance 

 
 

 

12.05.2021 

 

P
age 82



 
 

 

 

OPTIONS FOR SCRUTINY WORKING - current at issue of agenda. 
 

 
Task and Finish Group Review 

 
None scheduled at issue of agenda.   

 
  

 

Member Working Group 
 
None scheduled at issue of agenda.   
 

  

 
Inquiry Session 

 
None scheduled at issue of agenda.   

 
  

 
All Member Briefings 

 

PSPS.   
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

 

Chairman:   Councillor Judith Skinner 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Judith Welborn. 
 
 

 
FUTURE ITEMS 2021 – 2022 
 
Update on provision of public conveniences in Boston to include private facilities provided for public use. Timeline subject to ongoing Pandemic. 

  

P
age 83



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is left blank 

P
age 84


	Agenda
	B. MINUTES
	1 TWIN STREAM RECYCLING COLLECTION
	Appendix B. TEEP Assessment
	Appendix C. Draft Waste Enforcement Policy

	2 CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENT UPDATE
	3 WORK PROGRAMME TO INCLUDE QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE DATA
	Appendix 1.  Q2. Performance Data
	Work Programme


